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Letters of transmittal 

 

Letter dated 31 March 2017 from the Executive Director of the 

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime addressed to the Chair 

of the Board of Auditors  
 

 

 In accordance with United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime financial rule 

406.3, I have the honour to transmit the financial statements of the United Nations 

Office on Drugs and Crime for the year ended 31 December 2016, which I hereby 

approve.  

 Copies of these financial statements are also being transmitted to the General 

Assembly through the Advisory Committee on Administrative and Budgetary 

Questions.  

 

 

(Signed) Yury Fedotov  

Executive Director  

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime  
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  Letter dated 30 June 2017 from the Chair of the Board of Auditors 

addressed to the President of the General Assembly  
 

 

 I have the honour to transmit to you the report of the Board of Auditors on the 

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime for the year ended 31 December 2016.  

 

 

(Signed) Shashi Kant Sharma  

Comptroller and Auditor General of India  

Chair of the Board of Auditors  
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Chapter I  
  Report of the Board of Auditors on the financial statements: 

audit opinion  
 

 

  Opinion  
 

 We have audited the financial statements of the United Nations Office on 

Drugs and Crime (UNODC), which comprise the statement of financial position 

(statement I) as at 31 December 2016 and the statement of financial performance 

(statement II), the statement of changes in net assets (statement III), the statement of 

cash flows (statement IV) and the statement of comparison of budget and actual 

amounts (statement V) for the year then ended, as well as the notes to the financial 

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

 In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all 

material respects, the financial position of UNODC as at 31 December 2016 and its 

financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with 

the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS).   

 

  Basis for opinion  
 

 We conducted our audit in accordance with the International Standards on 

Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are described in the section 

below entitled “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements”. 

We are independent of UNODC, in accordance with the ethical requirements 

relevant to our audit of the financial statements, and we have fulfilled our other 

ethical responsibilities in accordance with those requirements. We believe that the 

audit evidence that we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion.  

 

  Information other than the financial statements and auditor’s report thereon  
 

 Management is responsible for the other information, which comprises the 

financial report for the year ended 31 December 2016, contained in chapter III 

below, but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report 

thereon.  

 Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information 

and we do not express any form of assurance thereon.  

 In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to 

read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 

is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 

the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, on the basis of the 

work that we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement in 

the other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 

in this regard.  

 

  Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 

financial statements  
 

 Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 

financial statements in accordance with IPSAS and for such internal control as 

management determines to be necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.   
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 In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 

the ability of UNODC to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 

matters related to the going concern and using the going-concern basis of 

accounting unless management intends either to liquidate UNODC or to cease 

operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

 Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the financial 

reporting process of UNODC. 

 

  Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  
 

 Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or  

error, and to issue an auditor ’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 

in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 

and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 

basis of these financial statements.  

 As part of an audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing, 

we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout 

the audit. We also:  

 • Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement in the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 

responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than the risk of not 

detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 

intentional omission, misrepresentation or the overrid ing of internal control.  

 • Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 

the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal 

control of UNODC. 

 • Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 

of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.  

 • Draw conclusions as to the appropriateness of management’s use of the going-

concern basis of accounting and, on the basis of the audit evidence obtained, 

whether a material uncertainty exists in relation to events or conditions that 

may cast significant doubt on the ability of UNODC to continue as a going 

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 

draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 

auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause UNODC to 

cease to continue as a going concern.  

 • Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 

represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation.  

 We communicate with those charged with governance with regard to, among 

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
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findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit.  

 

  Report on other legal and regulatory requirements  
 

 Furthermore, in our opinion, the transactions of UNODC that have come to 

our notice or that we have tested as part of our audit have, in all significant respects, 

been in accordance with the Financial Regulations and Rules of UNODC and 

legislative authority.  

 In accordance with article VII of the Financial Regulations and Rules  of the 

United Nations, we have also issued a long-form report on our audit of UNODC.  

 

 

(Signed) Shashi Kant Sharma  

Comptroller and Auditor General of India  

Chair of the Board of Auditors  

(Signed) Kay Scheller  

President of the German Federal Court of Auditors  

(Lead Auditor)  

(Signed) Mussa Juma Assad  

Controller and Auditor General of the  

United Republic of Tanzania  

 

30 June 2017 
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Chapter II  
  Long-form report of the Board of Auditors  

 

 

 

 Summary 

 The Board of Auditors has audited the financial statements and reviewed the 

operations of the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) for the year 

ended 31 December 2016. The Board examined financial transactions and operations 

at UNODC headquarters in Vienna and in the field operations in Turin, Italy, at the 

United Nations Interregional Crime and Justice Research Institute, and in 

Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan.  

 

  Opinion  
 

 In the Board’s opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material 

respects, the financial position of the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime as 

at 31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then 

ended in accordance with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards.   

 

  Overall conclusion  
 

 The Board did not identify significant errors, omissions or misstateme nts from 

the review of financial records of UNODC for the year ended 31 December 2016. 

However, the Board identified some deficiencies in the financial statements which 

were corrected by management in the course of the audit. The Board found areas for 

improvement in information and communications technology infrastructure, the 

inclusion of persons with disabilities and UNODC contributions to the Sustainable 

Development Goals.  

 

  Key findings  
 

  Financial management  
 

 The Board noted that UNODC made manual journal entries directly in the 

reporting tool for financial statements, in addition to the data imported from Umoja. 

These manual entries comprised intra-fund eliminations, corrections between 

segments, movements between line items and other adjustments. The Board is of the 

opinion that UNODC should make no manual adjustments in its business planning 

and consolidation reporting tool if possible, but instead ensure that the data from 

Umoja are accurate and complete.  

 During 2016, UNODC recorded 169,956 manual journal lines in Umoja. One 

third of the manually entered journals were posted during year -end closure. Owing to 

this time lag in postings in its enterprise resource planning system, UNODC was not 

able to adequately monitor its financial performance and position during the year. 

Furthermore, delayed postings can give the false impression to project leaders that 

more funds are available than is actually the case, which can lead to projects and 

funds overspending their available budget.  

 According to its general ledger accounts list, UNODC managed 63 petty cash 

accounts at its headquarters and field offices. With regard to 10 accounts, UNODC 

could not provide cash count statements as at 31 December 2016. With regard to 14  

accounts, the amounts recorded in the general ledger did not tally with those reported 

in the respective cash count statements. The Board noted that petty cash accounts 

needed to be kept in an accurate and timely manner to ensure compliant spending of 

project funds and a true representation of the expenses incurred.  
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 Approximately half of the accruals for goods and services were determined on 

the basis of a manual list. The Board found that the process of identification of these 

accruals required a high level of manual intervention and was therefore time-

consuming. The Board found two accruals that were too high and two that had no 

supporting documentation. This resulted in an excess accrual.   

 

  Physical security of information and communications technology infrastructure   
 

 The Board noted that the doorways and corridors outside data centres were 

filled with large amounts of combustible materials and other inflammable objects. 

The fire load of these objects seemed to be enormous and might destroy the cables 

and the important connectivity and power supply.  

 In addition, the Board inspected the information and communications 

technology (ICT) infrastructure within the Vienna International Centre. which is 

important to the network connectivity of UNODC. One of two central hub racks of 

the building’s shared fibre-optic infrastructure was located in the basement of the 

C-Building in a “Technical Installation and Service Room (C-1T26)”. This large 

room is used by several organizations in the Centre, including UNODC, the United 

Nations Office at Vienna, the Comprehensive Nuclear-Test-Ban Treaty Organization 

and the United Nations Industrial Development Organization, all of which had access 

to this main ICT infrastructure. The access to the room by staff or other persons not 

in charge of network administration or other activities related to the ICT 

infrastructure may increase the risk of damage from sabotage or unauthorized 

handling of these important hub racks. Moreover, the uncontrolled and disordered 

storage of inflammable goods and material might pose a higher risk of damage in the 

case of fire. These ICT components are highly important to the communication of all 

participating organizations. In case of damage, a major part of the redundancy of the 

network-based communication in Centre would be impaired.  

 

  Information and communications technology in the field  
 

 The Board audited the main ICT environment in one regional field office. The 

Board noted that no specialized ICT guidelines and standard operating procedures for 

the fields were in place. UNODC field offices are small and either do not have ICT 

specialists or have only one specialist. To meet the special needs of field offices, 

guidelines such as Secretary-General’s bulletins and Office of Information and 

Communications Technology technical procedures have to be reformulated into 

specialized guidelines. In doing so, industry standards should be taken into account.   

 

  Inclusiveness and accessibility for persons with disabilities  
 

 The United Nations has committed itself to improving accessibility and full 

inclusion of staff members with disabilities. To that purpose, the Secretary -General’s 

bulletin entitled “Employment and accessibility for staff members with disabilities in 

the United Nations Secretariat” requires the establishment of focal points on 

disability and accessibility in the workplace. UNODC has established two focal 

points in Vienna, but special focal points for personnel in the field offices do not 

exist. Furthermore, UNODC has set no standards for the accessibility of its field 

offices, whether they are administered by UNODC or are shared offices in United 

Nations common premises.  
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  Procurement  
 

 Since the introduction of Umoja at UNODC in November 2015, the 

Procurement Unit has become aware of cases of goods delivered without purchase 

orders (ex post facto). As of November 2016, the Procurement Unit began recording 

the reported ex post facto cases. During the period from 1 November 2016 to 

31 March 2017, the number of recorded cases amounted to 121 ($1.1  million). Most 

of the reported cases came from field offices. The Board held that there was no 

adequate technical oversight over the field offices to ensure that procurement 

activities were in line with the financial and procurement rules and regulations.   

 

  Sustainable Development Goals  
 

 The Board noted that UNODC did not officially introduce focal points for those 

Sustainable Development Goals that were of importance to the field offices. The 

Board holds that a clear structure would accelerate the exchange of information 

between UNODC headquarters and field offices. In addition, there was no 

comprehensive and integrated approach on the implementation support of the Goals. 

The Board considers it necessary to develop a complete draft and long -term strategy 

for implementing the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.   

 

  Main recommendations  
 

 The main recommendations are that UNODC:  

 

  Financial management  
 

 • Include a system-integrated approach to incorporate inter-organizational 

eliminations within business planning and consolidation, including any 

additional action necessary to reach this goal, for instance, an alignment of 

the funds structure.  

 • Adequately monitor financial performance and position during the year, 

including regular review of its cash flows.  

 • Improve its control over petty cash balances, collect cash count statements 

for each petty cash account and ensure that statements and general ledger 

accounts match.  

 • Record the receipt of goods and services in a timely manner.  

 • Improve recognition of accruals stemming from open purchase orders and 

implement effective controls to detect and prevent excess accruals by field 

offices.  

 

  Physical security of information and communications technology infrastructure   
 

 • Remove all combustible and unnecessary materials from such sensitive 

areas with special need of protection, such as server and data centres and 

(rescue) access ways to such areas, to reduce the fire load to a minimum. 

The storing of inflammable material in these areas must be strictly 

forbidden and regularly controlled.  

 

  Information and communications technology in the field  
 

 • Develop pragmatic ICT standard operating procedures and templates 

which field offices may use for the main ICT areas to ensure that 

compliance can be monitored.  
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  Inclusiveness and accessibility for persons with disabilities  
 

 • Consider appointing focal points on disability and accessibility issues in 

field offices and set standards for the accessibility of field office premises, 

and consider cooperating with the United Nations Development Programme 

(UNDP) to implement standards for accessibility in UNDP-administered 

premises.  

 

  Procurement  
 

 • Establish regular monitoring of procurement activities at UNODC 

headquarters and field offices and assign clear responsibilities for the 

monitoring process.  

 

  Sustainable Development Goals  
 

 • Consider the document “UNODC and the Sustainable Development Goals” 

to be a “living” document and update it as necessary.  

 

 

 

 

 

Key facts 
 

Core staff of 644 from 68 locations 

$341.2 million: original budget for 2016 in the biennium 2016-2017 

$342.2 million: revenue for 2016 

$241.9 million: expenses for 2016 

$264.5 million: net contributions receivable, from donors, under current 

agreements 

$509.9 million: cash and investments in the United Nations Treasury 

cash pool 
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 A. Mandate, scope and methodology  
 

 

1. The United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) is mandated to 

assist Member States in tackling illicit drugs, crime and terrorism. Headquartered in 

Vienna, UNODC operates globally with a core staff of 644 in 68 locations. Almost 

all of the activities of UNODC are undertaken through individual projects at global, 

regional and country levels (216 projects).  

2. The Board of Auditors audited the financial statements of UNODC and 

reviewed its activities for the year ended 31 December 2016, in accordance with 

General Assembly resolution 74 (I) of 1946. The audit was conducted in conformity 

with the Financial Regulations and Rules of the United Nations and the Financial 

Rules of UNODC, as well as the International Standards on Auditing.  

3. The audit was conducted to enable the Board to form an opinion as to whether 

the financial statements presented fairly the financial position of UNODC as at 

31 December 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then 

ended, in accordance with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards 

(IPSAS). The audit included a general review of financial systems and int ernal 

controls and a test examination of the accounting records and other supporting 

evidence of transactions to the extent that the Board considered necessary to form 

an opinion on the financial statements. The audit was carried out at UNODC 

headquarters in Vienna and in Turin, Italy, at the United Nations Interregional Crime 

and Justice Research Institute, and in Kazakhstan and Uzbekistan.   

4. The Board reviewed the activities of UNODC and made, as provided in 

section 7.5 of the Financial Regulations and Rules of the United Nations, 

observations on the efficiency of the financial procedures, the accounting system, 

the internal financial controls and, in general, the administration and management of 

operations. The Board has commented on the Office’s financial position and 

reviewed elements of its information and communications technology (ICT) 

infrastructure and ICT governance. In its audit, the Board has included the cross -

cutting issues of inclusion of persons with disabilities and UNODC contribution to 

the Sustainable Development Goals.  

5. The present report covers matters that, in the opinion of the Board, should be 

brought to the attention of the General Assembly. The Board’s observations and 

conclusions were communicated to UNODC management, whose views have been 

appropriately reflected in the report.  

 

 

 B. Follow-up of previous recommendations of the Board  
 

 

6. Of the 38 outstanding recommendations made for 2015 and previous 

bienniums, 11 (29 per cent) were fully implemented, 18 (47 per cent) remained 

under implementation and 9 (24 per cent) were overtaken by events (see table II.1). 

Details of the implementation of the previous years’ recommendations are provided 

in the annex to chapter II.  

 

  Table II.1  

Status of implementation of recommendations  
 

 Fully implemented Under implementation Not implemented Overtaken by events 

     
Total 11 18 0 9 

Percentage 29 47 – 24 

 

Source: Board of Auditors.  
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7. There has been positive progress overall across many of the recommendations 

still marked as under implementation, including in the areas of financial 

management and reporting; gaining an accurate picture of progress information on 

projects and programmes against milestones; and collecting better data on the 

volumes and value of field office procurement. Actions must be taken by 

management to address the 47 per cent of recommendations which have yet to be 

implemented.  

 

 

 C. Financial overview  
 

 

8. UNODC is mainly funded through voluntary contributions. In 2016, net 

voluntary contributions amounted to $289.3 million (2015: $230.0 million) of total 

revenue of $342.2 million (2015: $275.0 million). Revenue also included 

$30.1 million from the United Nations regular budget (2015: $29.0 million). 

Expenses for the year were $241.9 million (2015: $278.7 million), resulting in a 

surplus of $100.3 million (2015: deficit of $3.8 million). This was largely due to the 

fact that contributions were received late in the year and projects were not 

implemented until 2017. The Board further noted the continued trend towards 

earmarked resources, and that only $3.7 million of $289.3 million of voluntary 

contributions were not earmarked. The Board noted that efficient pro ject control 

was necessary in order to quickly implement projects when funding was received, 

particularly when the inflow of funding was uneven throughout the year.  

9. The Board’s analysis of capital structure ratios demonstrates that, despite the 

competitive environment for donor funds, the current financial position of UNODC 

remains sound and has improved compared with 2015, with an assets to liabilities 

ratio of 3.06. The current ratio is even better, with a value of 5.24. The analysis of 

ratios shows relative consistency over the past three financial years (see table II.2).  

 

  Table II.2  

Capital structure ratios  
 

Description of ratio 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 31 December 2014 

    
Total assets: total liabilities

a
 3.06 2.46 2.30 

Assets: liabilities    

Current ratio
b
 5.24 3.04 3.10 

Current assets: current liabilities    

Quick ratio
c
 4.99 2.95 1.96 

Cash + short term investments + accounts receivable: 

current liabilities    

Cash ratio
d
 3.41 1.72 1.62 

Cash + short-term investments: current liabilities    

 

Source: Board analysis of UNODC financial data.  

 
a
  A high ratio indicates an entity’s ability to meet its overall obligations.  

 
b
  A high ratio indicates an entity’s ability to pay off its current liabilities.  

 
c
  The quick ratio is more conservative than the current ratio, because it excludes inventory and other current 

assets, which are more difficult to turn into cash. A higher ratio means a more liquid current position.   

 
d
  The cash ratio is an indicator of an entity’s liquidity; it measures the amount of cash, cash equivalents or 

invested funds that are in current assets to cover current liabilities.   
 

 

10. The two major components of the UNODC asset base are cash and investment 

balances, which totalled $508.9 million (2015: $460.8 million), and voluntary 

contributions receivable from donors of $264.5 million (2015: $272.7 million). Cash 
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and investment balances are managed under a cash pool arrangement operated by 

the United Nations Secretariat in New York. The returns on the UNODC cash 

balances totalled $3.5 million (2015: $2.2 million). Voluntary contributions 

receivable represent the remaining sums due over the lifetime of the current 

agreements with donors, of which an amount of $86.4 million (2015: $52.7 million) 

is due in more than one year’s time. The level of voluntary contributions receivable 

fell by 3 per cent during 2016 (2015: 18 per cent), slightly slowing the previous 

years’ decline in the receipt of voluntary contributions.  

11. The Office’s most significant liability is for the advance receipt of voluntary 

contributions of $125.9 million (2015: $170.0 million). Of this amount, 

$120.0 million (2015: $164.1 million) is from current European Union agreements 

where the revenue will be recognized as the conditions set down in the agreements 

are met in future financial periods. These advance receipts represent, from the 

perspective of UNODC, commitments to donors for the provision of future services. 

The scale of these deferred revenues demonstrates the extent to which future 

revenues, and a good portion of receivables, are dependent on UNODC continuing 

to deliver current projects and programmes in line with expectations.  

12. The second most significant element of UNODC liabilities results from 

employee benefits of $110.5 million (2015: $101.9 million). The employee benefits 

liabilities represent obligations incurred at year end, the largest element being the 

estimate for the cost of after-service health insurance of $82.9 million (2015: 

$74.8 million). The effect of an increased discount rate alongside other experience 

adjustments resulted in an overall net actuarial valuation loss of $3.0 million (2015: 

gain of $24.2 million) on the after-service health insurance liability, as disclosed in 

note 14 to the financial statements. It remains important to ensure that currently 

funded projects provide sufficient contribution to meet any associated increases in 

costs so that past project activities do not require substantive funding from future 

donors.  

 

 

 D. Main findings and recommendations  
 

 

 1. Financial management and internal control  
 

  Financial reporting  
 

13. Financial year 2016 was the first year in which UNODC fully operated its new 

enterprise resource planning system, “Umoja”, after the conversion from its legacy 

systems in November 2015. It was also the first financial year in which UNODC 

used the Excel-integrated Business Planning and Consolidation module reporting 

tool for the preparation of its financial statements. United Nations entities unde r the 

Secretariat use the module with a standardized and coherent mapping of general 

ledger accounts to line items for all entities. The module consolidates financial data 

from general ledger accounts and produces financial statements, and fulfils the sole  

function of a reporting tool. This standardized approach results in a more 

comparable presentation of financial statements. Using one single reporting system 

for all entities particularly ensures better comparability and overview across the 

United Nations in line with the One United Nations initiative.  

14. The Board noted that UNODC made manual journal entries directly in the 

reporting tool for financial statements, in addition to the data imported from Umoja. 

These manual entries comprised intra-fund eliminations, corrections between 

segments, movements between line items and other adjustments. Overall, these 

manual adjustments decreased revenues by $27,991,280 and expenses by 

$27,966,185, which resulted in a decrease of surplus of $25,095. Assets decreased 
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by $4,110,108 and liabilities decreased by $4,072,154, which resulted in a decrease 

of current year net assets of $12,858.  

15. The Board is of the opinion that UNODC should use manual entries in the 

Business Planning and Consolidation module in order to adjust Umoja data in 

exceptional cases only. This may apply to eliminations between funds; however, 

those should be systematically incorporated into the module rather than through 

manual entries where feasible. Reclassifications of postings between line items in 

the statement should remain the exception, as it contradicts the idea of having a 

common classification across the entire range of United Nations Secretariat entities. 

UNODC should make no other manual adjustments in the Business Planning and 

Consolidation module but rather use regular journals in Umoja, since Umoja is the 

only enterprise resource planning system to be used.  

16. The Board recommends that UNODC use a systems-integrated approach 

to incorporate inter-organizational eliminations within the Business Planning 

and Consolidation module, including any additional actions necessary to reach 

this goal, for example, an alignment of the funds structure.   

17. The Board recommends that UNODC eliminate or reduce the number of 

manual postings in the Business Planning and Consolidation module.  

18. The Board further recommends that UNODC review existing journal 

entries in the Business Planning and Consolidation module and align Umoja to 

ensure that its data reflect the line items in the financial statements wherever 

possible.  

 

  Financial accounting  
 

19. Data supporting the financial statements are composed of system-based 

entries, such as postings of purchases through a workflow, as well as manual 

journals. Workflow-based transactions use the system-built controls to ensure the 

correct authorization and the “four eyes” principle. Manual entries do not require a 

workflow and they are less strictly embedded in internal controls. As a consequence, 

they require thorough attention and review by management.  

20. During the financial year 2016, UNODC made 3,515 manual entries in Umoja 

(document types SA and SZ), that represent a total of 169,956 line items. Of these 

manual entries, 1,147 were made in 2017 and another 1,210 were posted in 

December 2016. Furthermore, about half of the entries for goods and services 

received were posted from October to December 2016.  

21. The Board noted that a large portion of manual entries for the receipt of goods 

and services was not posted until around the year end. As a consequence, the 

Office’s cash flow increased steadily throughout the year. Since expenses were not 

posted in a timely manner, the increase of cash did not reflect the true cash situation 

of UNODC. As can be seen in figure II.I below, cash increased throughout the year 

and decreased again at year end.  
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Figure II.I  
 

 

Source: Umoja financial data for financial year 2016.  
 

 

22. Due to the time lag in postings in its enterprise resource planning system, 

UNODC was not able to adequately monitor its financial performance and position 

during the year. Furthermore, delayed postings can give the false impression to 

project leaders that more funds are available than is actually the case, which can 

lead to projects and funds overspending their available budget.  

23. The Board recommends that UNODC adequately monitor its financial 

performance and position during the year, including through the regular 

review of its cash flows.  

 

  Representation of sources of income in Umoja  
 

24. UNODC accounting must distinguish between various sources of income. In 

this context, the fund “64DCR” is supplied by exchange transactions and 

transactions resulting from full cost recovery. Due to this “mix” of two differing 

sources of income, UNODC has to manually reallocate the transactions when 

preparing the financial statements. More manual journal entries are necessary to 

correct erroneous postings which have been “generated” by Umoja. Therefore, 

UNODC has no accurate overview of its types of income.  

25. The Board recommends that UNODC set up a clear structure for its sources  

of income in order to better meet its accounting and reporting requirements.  

 

  Cash management  
 

26. The line item “cash and cash equivalents” in the statement of financial 

position comprises the UNODC share in the United Nations cash pool, petty cash 

and imprest accounts. UNODC reported a balance of $120,595 in petty cash and 

imprest cash accounts at the end of 2016. Of this amount, $78,159 originated from 

unallocated items in a petty cash clearing account.  

27. In total, UNODC managed 63 petty cash accounts at its headquarters and field 

offices, according to the list of general ledger accounts. UNODC could not provide 

cash count statements for 10 accounts, which corresponds to a monetary value of 

$7,849. In addition, in 14 accounts the amounts recorded in the general ledger did 

not tally with those reported in the respective cash count statements, amounting to a 

difference of $9,780.  
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28. The Board further noted that the internal checklist of petty cash accounts held 

by UNODC suggested that, in at least one case, one general ledger account had been 

assigned to several petty cash accounts. The number of petty cash accounts on the 

internal checklist therefore diverged from the number of general ledger accounts.  

29. The Board is of the opinion that petty cash accounts need to be posted in an 

accurate and timely manner to ensure compliant spending and accounting of project 

funds. Petty cash accounts need to be duly managed to ensure that their accounting 

and documentation truly represent the expenses incurred.  

30. The Board recommends that UNODC improve its control over petty cash 

balances, collect cash count statements for each petty cash account and ensure 

that statements and general ledger accounts match.  

 

  Open item managed accounts  
 

31. Accounts in the accounts payable and accounts receivable section and other 

general ledger accounts are open item managed. That means that matching debit and 

credit entries can be set off against each other and are considered cleared items that 

will no longer be considered for currency revaluations or account balance reports. 

The netting of accounts payable and accounts receivable items is integrated into the 

system and items are automatically cleared when they are uniquely identifiable. All 

other items need to be netted manually.  

32. Accounts payable and accounts receivable items were not netted manually 

when the automatic system netting did not work, and in no instances were open item 

managed general ledger accounts netted.  

33. The Board is of the opinion that the clearing of open items is necessary for 

UNODC to gain an overview of balances remaining in accounts. When items are not 

cleared, the accounts unit or management is not able to quickly identify relevant 

entries in the general ledger. Particularly in cases of foreign currency values, this 

leads to incorrect revaluations of balances. During the closure of financial year 

2016, UNODC needed to manually adjust foreign currency balances that had been 

incorrectly revaluated. Closing open items in a timely manner would help reduce the 

number of manual journal entries.  

34. The Board recommends that UNODC continually review and clear all 

items in open item managed accounts throughout the year.  

 

  Accruals for goods and services  
 

35. At the end of 2016, UNODC accruals for goods and services totalled 

$17,502,906. One half of the accrual amount resulted from the receipt of goods and 

services for which the receipt was properly entered into the system. Invoices, 

however, had not yet been received. The second half of the accrual amount is based 

on a report of open purchase orders. Field offices were required to indicate the 

amounts to be accrued for each open purchase order. UNODC headquarters 

reviewed the list in total and recorded manual journal entries.  

36. In this instance, identifying the accruals by the field offices and headquarters 

was a time-consuming assignment.  

37. The Board found two accruals that had been overstated and two others that had 

no supporting documentation. This resulted in an excess accrual of $146,408.  

38. The Board recommends that UNODC record the receipt of goods and 

services in a timely manner.  



A/72/5/Add.10 
 

 

20/104 17-09173 

 

39. The Board further recommends that UNODC improve recognition of 

accruals stemming from open purchase orders and implement effective controls 

to detect and prevent excess accruals by field offices.   

 

  Voluntary contributions receivable  
 

40. At the end of 2016, the Office’s total net voluntary contributions receivable 

amounted to $264,458,706. Contributions receivable are recognized in the statement 

of financial position in the year in which the agreements are signed.  

41. During the audit, the Board became aware of an additional pledge agreement 

of $500,000 which was not included in the financial statements for 2016, but had 

been concluded during the financial year 2016. This agreement was not identified 

by the UNODC financial control team until after the accounts were closed .  

42. The Board recommends that UNODC strengthen its controls over 

concluded pledge agreements to ensure that the financial statements reflect all 

contribution agreements.  

43. Contributions receivable are classified as short-term or long-term 

contributions on a case-by-case analysis. However, UNODC does not differentiate 

between contributions to be received within one year or two or more years, but 

instead uses the total of all contributions that are due in future years.   

44. The Board recommends that UNODC classify contribution pledges by 

long-term and short-term contributions, and include a structured 

differentiation of the ageing structure by future years.  

 

 2. Physical security of information and communications technology infrastructure  
 

  Doorways and corridors in front of data centres  
 

45. The Board audited the physical security of the UNODC ICT infrastructure and 

inspected different data centres and several facilities for backup power supplies.  

46. The Board noted that the doorways and corridors outside both data centres 

were filled with large amounts of combustible materials, old furniture and other 

inflammable objects. Many cables were installed above the inflammable material. 

No protection was mounted.  

47. The Board is of the view that these materials increase the risk of fire and 

should therefore be removed. The fire load of these objects seems to be enormous 

and might destroy the cables and the important connectivity and power supply.   

48. The Board recommends that UNODC remove all combustible and 

unnecessary materials from such sensitive areas with special need of protection, 

such as server and data centres and (rescue) access ways to such areas, to 

reduce the fire load to a minimum. The storing of inflammable material in 

these areas must be strictly forbidden and regularly controlled.  

 

  Fibre-optic distribution centre in the Vienna International Centre  
 

49. In addition, the Board inspected the ICT infrastructure within the Vienna 

International Centre, which is important to the network connectivity of UNODC. 

One of two central hub racks of the building’s shared fibre-optic infrastructure was 

located in the basement of the C-Building in a “Technical Installation and Service 

Room” (C-1T26). This large room is used by several organizations in the Centre, 

including UNODC, the United Nations Office at Vienna, the Comprehensive 

Nuclear-Test-Ban Treaty Organization and the United Nations Industrial 

Development Organization. All of these organizations had access to this main ICT 
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infrastructure. The access to the room by staff or other persons not in charge of 

network administration or other activities related to the ICT infrastructure may 

increase the risk of damage from sabotage or unauthorized handling of these 

important hub racks. Moreover, the uncontrolled and disordered storage of 

inflammable goods and material might pose a higher risk of damage in the case of 

fire. These ICT components are highly important to the communication of all 

participating organizations. In case of damage, a major part of the network-based 

communication in the Centre would be impaired.  

50. The Board is concerned that access to the room is possible for staff or other 

persons not in charge of network administration and, in case of damage, a major part  

of the redundancy of the network-based communication in the Vienna International 

Centre would be lost, increasing the risk of an interruption in communications.  

51. The Board recommends that UNODC initiate a process with the other 

organizations in the Vienna International Centre with the purpose of assessing 

how access to the ICT rooms can be better controlled and how unauthorized 

access can be prevented.  

 

 3. Information and communications technology in the field  
 

52. The Board audited the main ICT areas, including information system 

operations, backup and recovery, disaster recovery planning and information 

security, in one regional field office.  

53. As there were no specialized ICT guidelines and standard operating 

procedures for the field, the Board used Secretary-General’s bulletins, Office of 

Information and Communications Technology technical procedures and industrial 

standards for the audit. The Board found weaknesses in data management, ICT 

security and disaster recovery planning. Production data were partly managed 

locally instead of being managed centrally in the data centre at headquarters. 

Combustible material in the server room increased the fire load. The backup media 

for the locally managed data was kept in the server room and was therefor e not safe 

in case of fire in that room. A disaster recovery plan to overcome ICT service 

disruptions had not yet been designed. There was the risk that sensitive data were 

not protected as required.  

54. In general, UNODC field offices are small offices and either do not have ICT 

specialists or have only one specialist. On the other hand, Secretary-General’s 

bulletins and Office of Information and Communications Technology technical 

procedures are high-level general guidelines addressing ICT matters throughout the 

United Nations. The Board sees the risk that in field offices these high -level 

guidelines may not be known or may not be applied appropriately and adequately 

during day-to-day work.  

55. In the Board’s view, to meet the special needs of field offices, the high-level 

guidelines must be reformulated into specialized guidelines. In doing so, industry 

standards should be taken into account. As the UNODC field office network 

encompasses offices in 74 field locations managed by 8 regional and 9 country 

offices, the Information Technology Service, as a UNODC headquarters service, 

should support the field offices by designing specialized guidelines such as standard 

operating procedures. Standard operating procedures and templates such as a 

disaster recovery plan template would provide greater confidence to ICT staff in 

field offices. 

56. The Board recommends that UNODC headquarters develop pragmatic 

ICT standard operating procedures and templates that field offices can use for 

the main ICT areas to ensure that compliance can be monitored. 
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 4. Inclusive and accessible United Nations for persons with disabilities  
 

  Focal point on disability and accessibility  
 

57. A policy on employment and accessibility for staff members with disabilities 

in the United Nations Secretariat entered into force in June 2014 (see 

ST/SGB/2014/3). As UNODC is an integral part of the United Nations Secretariat 

(see ST/SGB/2015/3), it must comply with the policy.  

58. The objectives of the policy are as follows:  

 (a) Ensure that staff members with disabilities have access to physical 

facilities, conferences and services, documentation and information, and 

professional development;  

 (b) Create a non-discriminatory and inclusive workplace with 

non-discriminatory recruitment and employment conditions and equal access to 

continuous learning, professional training opportunities and career advancement;  

 (c) Ensure that reasonable accommodation is provided;  

 (d) Improve accessibility and full inclusion;  

 (e) Improve and share knowledge and information about good practices on 

inclusive work environments within the United Nations system.  

59. In order to achieve these objectives, the Organization is, inter alia, obliged to 

appoint focal points on disability and accessibility in the workplace. The Board 

noted that UNODC had established two focal points (the Chief of the Human 

Resources Management Service and the Chief of the General Support Section), both 

located in Vienna. According to the short description, both chiefs serve as focal 

points for the United Nations Office at Vienna and UNODC. UNODC stated that the 

two focal points have started fact-finding with UNODC field offices regarding local 

standards and existing local focal points (coordination offices) with the United 

Nations country teams. UNODC feels that the creation of focal points in each field 

office is not yet required, but the headquarters focal points will continue to liaise on 

this important matter with representative of the field offices. However, the Board 

noted that special focal points for personnel in the field offices do not exist.  

60. The Board recommends that UNODC consider appointing focal points on 

disability and accessibility issues in field offices.  

 

  Standards for accessibility in field office premises  
 

61. UNODC has set no standards for the accessibility of its field offices, whether 

they are administered by UNODC or are shared offices in United Nations common 

premises. Exemplified by the working agreement between the United Nations 

Development Programme (UNDP) and UNODC, UNDP is responsible for managing 

the rental and maintenance services of the office premises. The Board noted that 

accessibility matters related to the field office premises were not included in the 

working agreement. According to UNODC, these matters are handled locally.  

62. The Board recommends that UNODC set up standards for accessibility of 

field office premises.  

63. The Board also recommends that UNODC consider cooperating with 

UNDP to implement standards for accessibility in UNDP-administered 

premises.  

 

https://undocs.org/ST/SGB/2014/3
https://undocs.org/ST/SGB/2015/3
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 5. Procurement management  
 

  Procurement monitoring  
 

64. Procurement in UNODC is governed by regulations 5.12 and 5.13 of the 

Financial Regulations and Rules of the United Nations and is managed by the 

Procurement Unit at the United Nations Office at Vienna. The objective of 

procurement activities within the United Nations system is the timely acquisition of 

goods and services while addressing the following guiding principles: (a) fairness, 

integrity and transparency through competition; (b) economy and effectiveness; and 

(c) best value for money. 

65. Since the introduction of Umoja in November 2015, the Procurement Unit has 

become aware of instances of goods delivered without a purchase order (ex post 

facto). In August 2016, when the number of cases increased, the Procurement Unit 

sent a reminder on how to proceed with ex post facto cases in procurement to 

UNODC offices worldwide. The reminder clearly outlined that ex post facto 

procurement did not comply with the Financial Regulations and Rules. As of 

November 2016, the Procurement Unit began recording the reported ex post facto 

cases. During the period from 1 November 2016 to 31 March 2017, the number of 

recorded ex post facto cases amounted to 121 ($1.1 million), mostly from field 

offices.  

66. The Board analysed the job profiles of possible officials responsible for 

monitoring procurement activities, especially in field offices. The job profile for 

field representative contained an overall responsibility to manage the financial and 

human resources assigned to the local field office, ensuring appropriate coverage, 

guidance and supervision of staff. The responsibilities of the Chief of the 

Procurement Unit, as defined in the job profile, did not include any explicit 

monitoring of field offices. 

67. The Board noted that the assigned responsibilities were likely not sufficient to 

prevent or reduce the ex post facto procurement cases. The Board  held that there 

was no adequate technical oversight of the field offices to ensure that procurement 

activities were in line with the financial and procurement rules and regulations.  

68. The Board recommends that UNODC, in cooperation with the United 

Nations Office at Vienna, establish regular monitoring of procurement 

activities at UNODC headquarters and field offices and assign clear 

responsibilities for the monitoring process. 

 

  Reporting tools for procurement  
 

69. The funds managed by UNODC are mostly provided by governments for 

specific purposes. Procurement officers have to ensure that the funds they have been 

entrusted with are spent in a professional, proper and timely manner, in line with the 

guiding principles. In order to review how UNODC meets these requirements, the 

Board requested basic data on procurement, inter alia, by means of a questionnaire.  

70. The Board noted that the Procurement Unit had difficulties in delivering the 

requested data. Some difficulties could be attributed to insufficient skills in 

handling the Umoja reporting tool and others to a lack of authorization in Umoja. 

Ultimately, in the course of the audit, the Board was able to receive the necessary 

information from the Procurement Unit.  

71. The Board considers it important that the Procurement Unit be able to use 

miscellaneous tools for analysing and reporting on relevant procurement data. This 

would enable the officials responsible to take measures in order to prevent, detect 

and report irregularities. 
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72. The Board recommends that UNODC, in cooperation with the United 

Nations Office at Vienna, organize additional training in Umoja’s business 

intelligence and reporting tools in order to improve the reporting capacity of 

the Procurement Unit. 

 

 6. Sustainable Development Goals  
 

  General approach by the Office to the Sustainable Development Goals  
 

73. On 25 September 2015, by its resolution 70/1, entitled “Transforming our 

world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development”, the General Assembly 

adopted 17 Sustainable Development Goals and 169 targets, which became effective 

on 1 January 2016. All countries and all stakeholders, acting in collaborative 

partnership, are to implement this plan in order to end poverty, protect the pla net 

and ensure that all people enjoy peace and prosperity. Primary responsibility for the 

Goals lies with the governments. The United Nations plays a key role in mobilizing 

and sharing knowledge, expertise and technologies and assisting countries in raisin g 

financial resources to support the achievement of the Goals in all countries. At the 

global level, the 17 Goals and 169 targets of the new agenda will be monitored and 

reviewed using a set of global indicators.  

74. In March 2017, the Statistical Commission, as a functional commission of the 

Economic and Social Council, agreed upon the global indicator framework 

developed and refined by the Inter-Agency and Expert Group on Sustainable 

Development Goal Indicators. Furthermore, the Inter-Agency and Expert Group 

elaborated a classification of Sustainable Development Goal indicators into three 

tiers based on their level of methodological development and data availability. On 

the basis of responses from United Nations international agencies, entities and 

organizations to an online questionnaire, the Inter-Agency and Expert Group set up 

a preliminary file containing, for example, tier assignments across the different 

targets and goals, a possible custodian agency or agencies responsible for compiling 

the data at the global level and for global reporting, and other involved agencies. 

This file needs to be updated and revised as additional information is received.  

75. The Board noted that the online presence of UNODC showed one document 

related to the Sustainable Development Goals called “UNODC and the Sustainable 

Development Goals”. In this document, UNODC identified 10 Goals and assigned 

targets to them that should be supported through its activities. The Board also noted 

that this document and the last updated tier classification for global Goal indicators, 

dated 20 April 2017, were not aligned with respect to targets and UNODC as the 

agency involved.  

76. The Board recommends that UNODC consider the document “UNODC 

and the Sustainable Development Goals” to be a “living” document and update 

it as necessary. 

77. The Board also recommends that UNODC keep up and work on a regular 

basis with the Inter-Agency and Expert Group on Sustainable Development 

Goal Indicators in order to align its perception of the Sustainable Development 

Goals with that of Inter-Agency and Expert Group.  

 

  Structuring Sustainable Development Goal integration 
 

78. Towards the end of 2015, UNODC launched the process of supporting the 

Member States in implementing the Sustainable Development Goals. So far, 

UNODC has set up an informal working group and designated a special adviser to 

develop strategies and policies and implement recommendations on operationalizing 

the Goals in the field. Furthermore, in May 2017, UNODC began rolling out 

https://undocs.org/A/RES/70/1
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tailored workshops for UNODC field office staff on integrating the Goals into the 

Office’s programming efforts. In addition, the topic of the Goals and UNODC 

technical cooperation assistance will be discussed at the upcoming meeting of field 

representatives in June 2017. However, the Board noted that no focal points for the 

Goals had been officially introduced, which is of importance to the field offices.  

79. Therefore, the Board is of the view that a clear structure would accelerate the 

exchange of information between UNODC headquarters and its field offices.  

80. The Board recommends that UNODC establish responsibilities at its field 

offices to share information on and experience with the Sustainable 

Development Goals between UNODC headquarters and its field offices. 

 

  Strategic implementation support of the Sustainable Development Goals  
 

81. The Board noted that UNODC had begun several activities regarding the 

localization of the Sustainable Development Goals at different levels within the 

organization, for example:  

 (a) In the third quarter of 2016, UNODC headquarters began discussions 

with the field representatives on operationalizing the Goals in the field programmes. 

UNODC plans to pursue Goal-related matters at the next annual meeting of field 

representatives in June 2017; 

 (b) UNODC headquarters integrated the Goals into the World Drug Report 

2016; 

 (c) In its Regional Programme for West Africa (2016-2020), the Regional 

Office for West and Central Africa developed a framework for action to support 

Member States in achieving the Goals; 

 (d) The Regional Office for Central Asia participated in the localization 

process of the Goals through the United Nations country teams in the region and, in 

May 2017, benefitted from a first multi-level workshop on mainstreaming the Goals 

into regional programming efforts;  

 (e) The UNODC Research and Trend Analysis Branch, jointly with a 

government counterpart, connected the results of their study on opium poppy 

cultivation with the Goals in the report entitled “Evidence for enhancing resilience 

to opium poppy cultivation in Shan State, Myanmar”, published in March 2017 by 

the Regional Office for Southeast Asia and the Pacific.  

82. Nevertheless, the Board noted that there was no comprehensive and integrated 

approach to implementation support for the Sustainable Development Goals. The 

Board considers it necessary to develop a complete draft and long-term strategy for 

implementing the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.  

83. The Board recommends that UNODC adapt its strategic planning in order 

to establish a long-term strategy for effective and coherent support with regard 

to implementing the Sustainable Development Goals. 

84. The Board also recommends that UNODC align all programmes and 

activities to the Sustainable Development Goals and, where applicable, to 

concrete targets, so that its work on the Goals becomes more visible and its 

actions receive more recognition. 
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 E. Disclosures by management  
 

 

 1. Write-off of losses of cash, receivables and property  
 

85. UNODC stated that it had formally written off receivables balances of  

$9.49 million in 2016 (2015: $17.10 million), which have been charged against the 

special purpose funds. In addition, $5.14 million (2015: $5.62 million) of 

non-expendable property assets by net book value were written off in 2016, the 

majority of which related to assets transferred to beneficiaries on completion of 

projects funded by donors. 

 

 2. Ex gratia payments  
 

86. UNODC stated that ex gratia payments were not made in 2016 (2015: nil). 

 

 3. Cases of fraud and presumptive fraud 
 

87. In accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISA 240), the 

Board plans its audits of the financial statements so that it has a reasonable 

expectation of identifying material misstatements and irregularity (including those 

resulting from fraud). The audit, however, should not be relied upon to identify all 

misstatements or irregularities. The primary responsibility for preventing and 

detecting fraud rests with management.  

88. The Board has not identified any instances of fraud in its audit, and no cases 

have come to its attention through its testing.  

89. During 2016, UNODC notified the Board of one case of presumptive fraud in 

2015 relating to the purchase of fuel for personal consumption. The person involved 

in the alleged fraud is a staff member under the administration of UNDP, and the 

investigation has been postponed to 2017. The amounts involved are being 

investigated. Another case of potential fraud ($2,900) was reported to the Office of 

Internal Oversight Services, and an investigation was initiated regarding claims and 

bills submitted by a staff member, in 2016, which were noted to be lacking dates 

and references, which resulted in the suspension of payments. The cases reported to 

the Board include only those in which the fraud, or presumptive fraud, affected 

UNODC directly. 
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Annex  
 

  Status of implementation of recommendations up to the year ended 31 December 2015 
 

 

       Status after verification 

No. 

Audit 

year/ 

biennium Report reference Recommendations of the Board UNODC response Board’s assessment Implemented 

Under 

implementation 

Overtaken 

by events 

Not 

implemented 

          
1. 2015 A/71/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 17 

The Board recommended 

that the Financial Resources 

Management Service 

undertake a thorough review 

of close-down procedures as 

Umoja reporting 

functionality is enhanced 

and seek early engagement 

with the Board on the audit 

trail, working papers and 

closure processes that will 

be provided to support the 

2016 audit process. 

The closing process was 

coordinated in conjunction 

with the Office of 

Programme Planning, 

Budget and Accounts. 

Discussion with the Board 

was initiated. 

The Board took note of 

progress made and 

concluded that the 

recommendation has been 

implemented. 

X    

2. 2015 A/71/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 18 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC ensure that 

key financial reconciliations 

are undertaken on a 

systematic basis and that 

control accounts are 

maintained to facilitate the 

review of key balances on a 

regular basis. 

Estimated completion date: 

December 2017. 

A dashboard has been 

created centrally by the 

Office of Programme 

Planning, Budget and 

Accounts to monitor the key 

reconciliations with target 

performance indicators. 

The Board acknowledges 

the progress that has been 

made, but considers 

implementation to be in 

progress. 

 X   

3. 2015 A/71/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 24 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC provide 

specific training for 

programme staff to ensure 

that they understand the 

rules and procedures for 

processing Umoja 

transactional workflows, for 

which they now have 

responsibility, and 

furthermore that 

management support the 

Financial Resources 

Management Service in 

The 2016 Umoja training 

plan was completed. 

UNODC has the largest 

number of staff members 

trained in grants and 

projects management in the 

Secretariat, largely due to 

its dispersed field 

operations, with some 200 

personnel trained. Further 

sessions (about four) are 

planned for 2017.  

The Board took note of 

progress made and 

concluded that the 

recommendation has been 

implemented. 

X    

https://undocs.org/A/71/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/71/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/71/5/Add.10
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       Status after verification 

No. 

Audit 

year/ 

biennium Report reference Recommendations of the Board UNODC response Board’s assessment Implemented 

Under 

implementation 

Overtaken 

by events 

Not 

implemented 

          ensuring compliance with 

Umoja and year-end 

process. 

4. 2015 A/71/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 25 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC seek to 

minimize the number and 

complexity of journal 

entries, and ensure that all 

journals are accurately 

described and supported 

within the system 

documentation to aid 

efficiency and review. 

Estimated completion date: 

October 2017.  

All supporting documents 

are uploaded to Umoja to 

the extent that the system or 

the process will allow. The 

outcome can be measured 

upon the completion of the 

audit. 

The Board acknowledges 

the progress that has been 

made, but considers 

implementation to be in 

progress. 

 X   

5. 2015 A/71/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 30 

The Board recommended 

that as Umoja reporting 

functionality develops, a 

systematic process be 

established to monitor and 

report on compliance, and 

that the data be used to 

inform training needs and to 

enhance the culture of 

compliance and effective 

operation of Umoja within 

UNODC. 

The 2016 training plan was 

revamped and executed. The 

training strategy for 2017 is 

being developed, but this is 

a mainstreaming exercise 

rather than a catch-up 

exercise, as the majority of 

staff who operate in Umoja 

have now been trained. 

The Board took note of 

progress made and 

concluded that the 

recommendation has been 

implemented. 

X    

6. 2015 A/71/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 33 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC make better 

use of existing risk material 

collated to inform 

management decisions, and 

that risks and their 

mitigations be regularly 

reviewed by senior 

management and reassessed 

to inform the corporate risk 

register. 

Estimated completion date: 

March 2018.  

The pilot testing of the full 

cost recovery barometer is 

ongoing and first results are 

expected. The review of the 

enterprise risk management 

framework for the United 

Nations Office at 

Vienna/UNODC will be 

conducted in 2017 

following the review of the 

enterprise risk management 

framework of the Secretariat 

and in line with the timeline 

The Board acknowledges 

the progress that has been 

made, but considers 

implementation to be in 

progress. 

 X   

https://undocs.org/A/71/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/71/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/71/5/Add.10
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       Status after verification 

No. 

Audit 

year/ 

biennium Report reference Recommendations of the Board UNODC response Board’s assessment Implemented 

Under 

implementation 

Overtaken 

by events 

Not 

implemented 

          established by New York. In 

that context, the review will 

establish the applicability of 

separating the risk registers 

for UNODC and the United 

Nations Office at Vienna.  

7. 2015 A/71/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 42 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC provide a 

greater level of detail to 

support the reasons for 

variations between original, 

revised and final projected 

budgets, and that any 

assumptions that might give 

rise to out-turn variations be 

highlighted to enhance 

oversight and 

accountability. 

More detailed financial 

analysis was provided in the 

2015 financial statements of 

UNODC as well as in the 

implementation report on 

the consolidated budget of 

UNODC (E/CN.7/2016/17-

E/CN.15/2016/14).  

The Financial Resources 

Management Service of the 

Division for Management 

will continue to work 

closely with UNODC 

programme managers to 

provide better variance 

explanations going forward. 

The Board took note of 

progress made and 

concluded that the 

recommendation has been 

implemented. 

X    

8. 2015 A/71/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 48 

The Board recommended 

that greater rigour be 

imposed on budget holders 

in supporting the 

assumptions underpinning 

the quality of their proposed 

budgets and expenditure 

profiles. There is scope for 

the Financial Resources 

Management Service to 

meet more frequently with 

the UNODC directors, as 

well as for field office 

programme managers to 

confirm, on a risk basis, 

whether the analysis of 

budgeted spend is relevant 

to reinforce the 

As part of the 

implementation report on 

the consolidated budget of 

UNODC (E/CN.7/2016/17-

E/CN.15/2016/14), UNODC 

carried out a thorough 

review of its programme 

portfolio. The forecast for 

programme delivery was 

adjusted downward by 

$60 million. The reasons for 

the lower forecast were 

analysed. More information 

on implementation by 

region was also provided. 

The Board took note of 

progress made and 

concluded that the 

recommendation has been 

implemented. 

X    

https://undocs.org/A/71/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/E/CN.7/2016/17
https://undocs.org/E/CN.7/2016/17
https://undocs.org/A/71/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/E/CN.7/2016/17
https://undocs.org/E/CN.7/2016/17
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       Status after verification 

No. 

Audit 

year/ 

biennium Report reference Recommendations of the Board UNODC response Board’s assessment Implemented 

Under 

implementation 

Overtaken 

by events 

Not 

implemented 

          accountabilities for the use 

of allocated resources and to 

assess the reasonableness of 

the proposed budgets. 

9. 2015 A/71/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 49 

The Board recommended 

further improvement in the 

quality of the analysis of 

budget variances reported to 

senior management; this 

should include clear and 

specific actions for budget 

holders to reprofile budgets 

where appropriate and be 

reported more frequently. 

Please refer to the update on 

recommendation No. 8, 

above. 

The Board took note of 

progress made and 

concluded that the 

recommendation has been 

implemented.  

X    

10. 2015 A/71/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 58 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC continue with 

the implementation of its full 

cost recovery initiatives and 

use the information to build 

a more systematic approach 

to efficiency activities, to 

enable their success to be 

measured and to evaluate the 

benefits of individual 

savings measures. UNODC 

could then use the results of 

a more systematic process to 

provide a platform for field 

offices to share successful 

efficiency measures across 

its operations. 

A thorough review of field 

office costs vis-à-vis 

programme portfolio was 

carried out in the fourth 

quarter of 2016 as part of 

the implementation report 

on the consolidated budget 

of UNODC 

(E/CN.7/2016/17-

E/CN.15/2016/14). This 

review resulted in saving 

and efficiency measures of 

$2.7 million. 

The Board took note of 

progress made and 

concluded that the 

recommendation has been 

implemented.  

X    

11. 2015 A/71/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 64 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC develop its 

standard performance 

indicators to ensure that 

they allow programmes to 

be properly measured at an 

operational and strategic 

level. 

Estimated completion date: 

March 2018.  

With regard to thematic 

areas under the responsibility 

of the Division for Treaty 

Affairs, sets of standard 

indicators have already been 

developed. 

The Board acknowledges 

the progress that has been 

made, but considers 

implementation to be in 

progress. 

 X   

https://undocs.org/A/71/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/71/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/E/CN.7/2016/17
https://undocs.org/E/CN.7/2016/17
https://undocs.org/A/71/5/Add.10
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       Status after verification 

No. 

Audit 

year/ 

biennium Report reference Recommendations of the Board UNODC response Board’s assessment Implemented 

Under 

implementation 

Overtaken 

by events 

Not 

implemented 

          
12. 2015 A/71/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 67 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC project teams 

clearly articulate the 

delivery record of the 

project before seeking 

additional approvals for the 

project, so as to strengthen 

the confidence of the 

approvals committee that 

any revisions are reasonable 

and supported by clear 

evidence. 

Estimated completion date: 

March 2018.  

Project revisions submitted 

to the Programme Review 

Committee extensively 

articulate programme 

achievements and results. 

Improved consistency in 

reporting on results will be 

reviewed.  

The Board acknowledges 

the progress that has been 

made, but considers 

implementation to be in 

progress. 

 X   

13. 2015 A/71/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 72 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC further 

explore the administrative 

and substantive reasons for 

the rejection of project 

plans and use this 

information to inform 

improvements to the 

guidance for project teams. 

Furthermore, UNODC could 

monitor performance 

against target times for each 

stage of the clearance 

process to provide better 

information to identify any 

inefficient elements. 

Estimated completion date: 

March 2018.  

Implementation is in 

progress. 

The Board acknowledges 

the progress that has been 

made, but considers 

implementation to be in 

progress. 

 X   

14. 2015 A/71/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 76 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC enhance the 

accountabilities for the 

management of funding 

risks within projects, 

requiring teams to specify 

how their funding gap will 

be filled, to identify the 

degree of project and cost 

risk and what mitigations 

can be taken. 

Estimated completion date: 

March 2018.  

Specific attention is being 

paid to the risk matrix in 

programme/project 

submissions to ensure that 

funding risks are addressed 

as required. 

The Board acknowledges 

the progress that has been 

made, but considers 

implementation to be in 

progress. 

 X   

https://undocs.org/A/71/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/71/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/71/5/Add.10
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       Status after verification 

No. 

Audit 

year/ 

biennium Report reference Recommendations of the Board UNODC response Board’s assessment Implemented 

Under 

implementation 

Overtaken 

by events 

Not 

implemented 

          
15. 2015 A/71/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 81 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC consider a 

strategy to deal with any 

financial reporting backlog 

and identify and address any 

gaps in reporting 

functionalities that are 

creating delays in the 

reporting timeline. 

Estimated completion date: 

September 2017.  

2015 donor reports for 

operational projects are 95 

per cent complete. The 

remaining outstanding 

reports are expected to be 

finalized with the 2016 

donor reports. With the 

improved Umoja 

functionality, improved 

delivery for 2016 donor 

reports is expected. 

The Board acknowledges 

the progress that has been 

made, but considers 

implementation to be in 

progress. 

 X   

16. 2015 A/71/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 82 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC centrally 

monitor the reporting 

requirements of donors and 

develop a methodology for 

donor financial reporting 

that creates a consistent 

reporting framework that is 

aligned to the information 

that can be produced 

efficiently from its systems. 

Furthermore, UNODC 

should do more to influence 

donors in agreeing a 

financial reporting 

framework aligned to 

internal reporting cycles and 

to follow as closely as 

possible a common 

reporting template. 

Estimated completion date: 

July 2018. 

UNODC will reinforce the 

standard reporting process 

as follows:  

• Reinforce corporate 

standards within Umoja 

and explain the benefits 

of standard reporting to 

donors and programme 

managers.  

• Coordinate with the 

Office of the United 

Nations Controller to 

address standard 

reporting in United 

Nations system-wide 

agreements. 

The Board acknowledges 

the progress that has been 

made, but considers 

implementation to be in 

progress. 

 X   

17. 2015 A/71/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 86 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC consider the 

scope for simplifying the 

reporting structure, for 

example, by only reporting 

changes from the previous 

submissions, through better 

Estimated completion date: 

March 2018.  

The beta version of the 

programme management 

donor dashboard is currently 

being further developed to 

better address needs 

The Board acknowledges 

the progress that has been 

made, but considers 

implementation to be in 

progress. 

 X   

https://undocs.org/A/71/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/71/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/71/5/Add.10
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       Status after verification 

No. 

Audit 

year/ 

biennium Report reference Recommendations of the Board UNODC response Board’s assessment Implemented 

Under 

implementation 

Overtaken 

by events 

Not 

implemented 

          use of graphics to show 

progress against targets, and 

through the inclusion of key 

expenditure data to identify 

departures from the agreed 

forecasts and to highlight 

reasons for variances in 

spending and activity. 

expressed by Member 

States.  

18. 2014 A/70/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 9 

The Board recommended 

that management embed the 

financial disciplines 

required by IPSAS across 

its operations, and that staff 

engage in the maintenance 

of timely and accurate 

financial records and fully 

utilize the better quality 

financial information 

outputs to support its 

decision-making. 

Estimated completion date: 

September 2017.  

Beginning September 2016, 

the Financial Resources 

Management Service started 

to organize training sessions 

adapted to Umoja processes 

for an intended audience of 

finance users, certifying 

officers, requisitioners and 

goods receiving officers, for 

both the United Nations 

Office at Vienna and 

UNODC. An assessment 

and lessons-learned exercise 

will take place after the 

2016 financial statements 

are issued to address further 

needs. 

The Board’s audit of 2016 

has identified areas where 

there remains scope for 

UNODC to better embed the 

IPSAS culture, and in 

particular to ensure greater 

understanding of the 

importance of the delivery 

concept and greater 

discipline with regard to 

income recognition, 

accruals and obligations. 

The Board has noted 

management’s commitment 

to learn lessons and respond 

to this recommendation, 

which remains under 

implementation. 

 X   

19. 2014 A/70/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 18 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC develop fraud 

risk assessments to identify 

areas where it is most 

susceptible to fraud within 

its operations. These should 

be used to inform the 

development of risk 

mitigation plans to focus 

training and targeted 

exception reporting to 

detect cases of fraud. 

Estimated completion date: 

October 2017.  

The Anti-Fraud and Anti-

Corruption Framework of 

the United Nations 

Secretariat was issued in 

September 2016. In line 

with the Framework, 

UNODC is currently 

establishing action points 

for dissemination, 

awareness, support and 

monitoring of the 

The Board understands that 

work is being undertaken in 

New York to develop these 

tools, but considers that 

more could still be done 

locally to assess the specific 

risks to UNODC.  

 X   

https://undocs.org/A/70/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/70/5/Add.10
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       Status after verification 

No. 

Audit 

year/ 

biennium Report reference Recommendations of the Board UNODC response Board’s assessment Implemented 

Under 

implementation 

Overtaken 

by events 

Not 

implemented 

          Framework. Enterprise risk 

considerations will also be 

evaluated. 

20. 2014 A/70/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 22 

The Board recommended 

that management: (a) further 

improve the quality of the 

analysis of budget variances 

reported to senior 

management and that these 

should include clear actions 

to redeploy or reprofile the 

budget, where appropriate; 

and (b) review the budget 

and cost allocations between 

the activities of the Drug 

and Crime Programmes to 

strengthen the segmental 

reporting within the 

financial statements. 

More detailed financial 

analysis was provided in the 

2015 financial statements of 

UNODC, in the reports 

submitted to the Executive 

Committee in the second 

and third quarters of 2016, 

and in the implementation 

report on the consolidated 

budget of UNODC 

(E/CN.7/2016/17-

E/CN.15/2016/14). The 

Financial Resources 

Management Service of the 

Division for Management 

will continue to work 

closely with UNODC 

programme managers to 

provide better variance 

explanations going forward. 

The Board took note of 

progress made and 

concluded that the 

recommendation has been 

implemented.  

X    

21. 2014 A/70/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 26 

The Board recommended 

that management: (a) 

establish clear project 

milestones and resource 

plans at the local UNODC 

level to ensure successful 

transition to Umoja, 

especially in respect of data 

cleansing, so as to minimize 

the impact on the 

preparation of the financial 

statements for 2015; and (b) 

develop a clear timeline on 

how remaining legacy 

system risks will be 

addressed.  

The Umoja deployment 

team in New York centrally 

prepared the Umoja 

deployment milestones for 

all cluster 4 entities, 

including for UNODC and 

the United Nations Office at 

Vienna. This included the 

milestones for data 

cleansing and other 

preparatory activities.  

As the Board noted in the 

main body of its report, the 

preparation for Umoja and 

the conversion of legacy 

data went relatively well up 

to the switchover in 

November 2015. This 

recommendation 

specifically related to 

Umoja implementation and 

has therefore been closed.  

  X  

https://undocs.org/A/70/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/E/CN.7/2016/17
https://undocs.org/E/CN.7/2016/17
https://undocs.org/A/70/5/Add.10
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       Status after verification 

No. 

Audit 

year/ 

biennium Report reference Recommendations of the Board UNODC response Board’s assessment Implemented 

Under 

implementation 

Overtaken 

by events 

Not 

implemented 

          
22. 2014 A/70/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 33 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC ensure the 

consistent use of the 

standard outcomes that have 

been developed for each 

thematic area in all its 

programmes and projects so 

as to ensure alignment with 

strategic objectives. 

UNODC considers this 

recommendation 

implemented. The Office 

continues to ensure that 

standard indicators are used 

for new projects and/or in 

project revisions of earlier 

projects. 

The Board has reviewed the 

standard indicators and their 

adoption by project teams. 

The Board recognizes that 

the new set of performance 

indicators are still in draft 

format and has made 

recommendations on how 

they could be improved, as 

well as the design of 

projects in terms of the type 

and number of indicators 

used. This recommendation 

is therefore overtaken by 

events. 

  X  

23. 2014 A/70/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 40 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC: (a) utilize the 

improved cost data to 

inform strategies for 

funding priorities and 

efficiency programmes; 

(b) complete the roll-out of 

full cost recovery to 

projects, strengthening 

guidance and training 

support to enable staff to 

understand the principles 

and how they should be 

applied to project activity; 

and (c) introduce an 

assurance/review process to 

ensure that the costs are 

consistently and reliably 

classified across the 

business in line with the 

framework. 

Estimated completion date: 

December 2017.  

On 27 July 2016, the 

Financial Resources 

Management Service issued 

a new guide on the 

implementation of full cost 

recovery in UNODC.  

UNODC will continue to 

report on the status of 

implementation of full cost 

recovery to the UNODC 

Commissions.  

The pilot testing of the full 

cost recovery barometer is 

ongoing and first results are 

expected by the end of the 

first quarter of 2017. 

The Board noted the delays 

to the implementation of the 

full cost recovery exercise. 

It remains important that 

UNODC improve the 

consistency and accuracy of 

cost data. There remains a 

need to create an assurance 

framework with regard to 

the cost classifications to 

ensure that the full cost 

classifications are robust 

and enjoy the confidence of 

stakeholders. The Board 

will continue to monitor 

progress. 

 X   

24. 2014  A/70/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 44 

The Board recommended 

that, to embed an evaluation 

culture, individual project 

managers take responsibility 

Estimated completion date: 

September 2017.  

In 2016, the UNODC 

Independent Evaluation 

The Board is encouraged by 

the progress being made. 

The Board has yet to see 

evidence of how senior 

 X   

https://undocs.org/A/70/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/70/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/70/5/Add.10
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       Status after verification 

No. 

Audit 

year/ 

biennium Report reference Recommendations of the Board UNODC response Board’s assessment Implemented 

Under 

implementation 

Overtaken 

by events 

Not 

implemented 

          for their projects to be 

evaluated. Compliance with 

this activity should be 

included in the performance 

appraisal system. 

Furthermore, the 

implementation rates of 

evaluation 

recommendations should be 

monitored by senior 

management. 

Unit was the subject of a 

peer review. As a result of 

this independent 

assessment, the Unit is 

undergoing structural 

changes and reforms. The 

implications of these 

changes and reforms have a 

direct impact on the funding 

model, human resources 

structure and staffing. These 

changes will be reflected in 

a new evaluation policy that 

will be issued during 2017. 

management are sighted 

upon the extent to which 

project evaluation is 

embedded, and how the data 

are used to drive evaluation 

further how they are being 

embedded within the 

appraisal system. The Board 

therefore considers 

implementation to be in 

progress. 

25. 2014  A/70/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 50 

The Board recommended 

that management:  

(a) complete the roll-out of 

the risk management 

process and collate the 

information in divisional 

and field registers into an 

organizational risk register; 

(b) regularly review and 

update the register to 

facilitate its use as an 

operational tool for 

decision-making across 

UNODC; and (c) consider 

whether it remains 

appropriate for the 

aggregation of the risks of 

UNODC and the United 

Nations Office at Vienna in 

the same register. 

UNODC is implementing 

the full cost recovery 

barometer, a management 

dashboard, with the aim of 

aiding managers at 

headquarters and in the field 

to monitor, analyse and 

address the fluctuation in 

the cost recovery rates. The 

pilot testing of the full cost 

recovery barometer is 

ongoing and the first results 

are expected by the end of 

the first quarter of 2017. 

The review of the enterprise 

risk management framework 

for the United Nations 

Office at Vienna and 

UNODC will be conducted 

in 2017 in line with the 

timeline established by New 

York.  

The Board has noted 

progress in the risk 

management processes of 

UNODC. It notes that: 

(a) The roll-out will be 

completed by the first 

quarter of 2017; (b) There 

remains scope to use the 

wider risk registers as tools 

to support decision-making 

processes, but this is 

evolving in respect of full 

cost recovery risks; 

(c) UNODC will determine 

the applicability of 

separating the risk registers 

for UNODC and the United 

Nations Office at Vienna 

during 2017. 

X    

26. 2014 A/70/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 57 

The Board recommended 

that management further 

develop their understanding 

of project staffing 

Estimated completion date: 

December 2017.  

UNODC has prepared a 

draft analysis of staff at all 

The Board acknowledges 

the efforts being made, but 

notes that all UNODC field 

offices, not only major field 

 X   

https://undocs.org/A/70/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/70/5/Add.10
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       Status after verification 

No. 

Audit 

year/ 

biennium Report reference Recommendations of the Board UNODC response Board’s assessment Implemented 

Under 

implementation 

Overtaken 

by events 

Not 

implemented 

          requirements by reviewing, 

within the constraints of the 

United Nations Secretariat 

global staffing model, 

processes to headquarters 

and regional staffing plans, 

balancing an optimal use of 

resources between 

headquarters, field staff and 

grade profiles. 

major UNODC field offices 

with a comparison of 2016 

and 2017 budgets (initial 

and revised). UNODC is 

currently preparing a 

breakdown of the post 

information by individual 

position to be able to further 

analyse the expenditures in 

the field.  

offices, should be included 

in the analysis. Otherwise, 

balancing an optimal use of 

resources between 

headquarters, field staff and 

grade profiles cannot be 

ensured. 

27. 2014 A/70/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 65 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC should: (a) 

within the constraints of the 

United Nations Secretariat 

global staffing model, build 

a model for the optimal 

workforce composition, 

capability and training 

needs in a medium- and 

long-term staffing plan; 

(b) use the opportunity 

afforded by Umoja to 

improve the collection of 

comprehensive workforce 

data, and utilize this to plan 

recruitment and the staff 

and capability requirements 

to meet the future 

anticipated needs of the 

business; and (c) consider 

the re-establishment of 

“roving teams” within 

headquarters that can 

support field offices on a 

short-term basis. 

Estimated completion date: 

December 2017.  

The Human Resources 

Management Service has 

prepared a detailed analysis 

of UNODC headquarters 

and field office positions by 

grade and funding source, 

comparing data from 2016 

and 2017. The overall 

analysis concluded that 

there is a slight grade drift 

(+1.4 per cent) from G-4 to 

G-5 posts, and to a lesser 

extent between G-6 and G-7 

posts (+0.6 per cent), as 

well as between P-2, P-3 

and P-4 posts (0.6-0.9 per 

cent). The Service will 

further review and analyse 

the data in conjunction with 

staff cost data expected 

from UNODC. 

The Board is encouraged by 

the progress being made, 

but considers 

implementation to be in 

progress, as important staff 

cost data for a further 

analysis are pending. 

 X   

28. 2014 A/70/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 71 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC improve the 

quality of the data collected 

on recruitment and track the 

impact of any delays in the 

Statistical information on 

recruitment activities is 

globally taken from the 

human resources 

management scorecard, 

The Board understands that 

UNODC cannot use the 

business intelligence reports 

as they are not yet available, 

but notes that UNODC 

X    

https://undocs.org/A/70/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/70/5/Add.10
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       Status after verification 

No. 

Audit 

year/ 

biennium Report reference Recommendations of the Board UNODC response Board’s assessment Implemented 

Under 

implementation 

Overtaken 

by events 

Not 

implemented 

          process on operational 

delivery. 

maintained by the Office of 

Human Resources 

Management of the 

Secretariat. The Human 

Resources Management 

Service uses this system for 

consistency across all 

departments and offices. 

The Service is in close 

contact with the Office of 

Human Resources 

Management scorecard team 

to report delays and 

inconsistencies with regard 

to data provided. 

Corrections or guidance on 

the computation of 

indicators is provided by the 

Office of Human Resources 

Management. 

should closely monitor the 

development of the reports 

and use them as soon as 

possible. 

29. 2014 A/70/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 72 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC learn lessons 

from the Office of the 

United Nations High 

Commissioner for Refugees 

(UNHCR) and others that 

use a mobility framework 

and ensure that 

implementation of the 

framework is informed by 

their observations. 

Estimated completion date: 

December 2017.  

United Nations 

Headquarters has requested 

the United Nations Office at 

Vienna/UNODC to support 

the Office of Human 

Resources Management in 

the new staff selection and 

mobility system and to 

establish a network staffing 

team for the Information 

and Telecommunication 

Technology Network at the 

United Nations Office at 

Vienna. The Human 

Resources Management 

Service has consulted with 

other Vienna-based 

international organizations 

The Board notes the efforts 

being made, but still expects 

UNODC to learn lessons 

from UNHCR as well. 

 X   

https://undocs.org/A/70/5/Add.10
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No. 
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implementation 

Overtaken 

by events 

Not 

implemented 

          that are not part of the 

Secretariat to learn from 

their mobility initiatives. 

30. 2012-2013 A/69/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 20 

The Board recommended 

that any system 

enhancements be 

coordinated to benefit both 

the immediate user and the 

corporate need. The ability 

to easily monitor and review 

financial management 

information centrally is 

severely limited by the 

functionality and 

fragmentation of the 

systems. At the same time, 

UNODC operates a highly 

decentralized system of 

controls. 

UNODC now adheres to the 

global governance on 

systems development as set 

out by the Office of 

Information and 

Communications 

Technology at United 

Nations Headquarters and 

the Umoja project. Within 

this framework, UNODC is 

taking an active role in 

requirements gathering, 

acceptance and testing of 

Umoja Extension 2, due in 

2018.  

The United Nations Office 

at Vienna/UNODC 

developed the Umoja 

programmatic reporting 

dashboard, which combines 

legacy and Umoja data and 

will be used across the 

United Nations Secretariat. 

The Board took note of 

progress made and 

concluded that the 

recommendation has been 

implemented.  

X    

31. 2012-2013 A/69/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 26 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC strengthen its 

quarterly review activity so 

that validity and accuracy of 

unliquidated obligations are 

assured, and consider 

increasing guidance and 

oversight in this area to 

better ensure commitments 

are updated timeously. 

The review of unliquidated 

obligations intensified with 

the transition to Umoja. 

Special messages were 

issued to all users in order 

to ensure diligent review of 

unliquidated obligations in 

preparation for transition to 

Umoja (message of the day 

of 22 July and 3 August 

2015).  

This recommendation has 

been superseded by the 

observations arising from 

the 2015 audit. 

  X  

32. 2012-2013 A/69/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 34 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC develop 

solutions for IPSAS 

The recommendation has 

been superseded and should 

be closed, given the Umoja 

While the 2015 financial 

closure and accounts 

production processes were 

  X  

https://undocs.org/A/69/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/69/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/69/5/Add.10
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No. 

Audit 
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biennium Report reference Recommendations of the Board UNODC response Board’s assessment Implemented 

Under 

implementation 

Overtaken 

by events 

Not 

implemented 

          implementation and embed 

timely data entry and 

validation requirements into 

the business as a matter of 

urgency. 

implementation. again highly manual, the 

point has been captured in 

the wider financial 

management 

recommendations for 2015, 

and therefore this 

recommendation can be 

closed. 

33. 2012-2013 A/69/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 38 

The Board recommended 

that, by July 2014, UNODC 

finalize its organizational 

risk register by prioritizing 

the risks and identifying 

mitigating actions. The 

register should be reviewed 

regularly by the senior 

management team of 

UNODC, and action taken 

to mitigate any risks that 

arise. 

Enterprise risk management 

reports covering 

information on both the 

United Nations Office at 

Vienna/UNODC register 

and the divisional registers 

are being prepared quarterly 

and submitted to senior 

managers and the Executive 

Committee for 

consideration. 

The Board has updated 

progress made in its current 

report and considers that 

there remains scope to 

formalize the engagement of 

senior management in the 

corporate risk process. The 

recommendation has been 

superseded. 

  X  

34. 2012-2013 A/69/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 46 

The Board recommended 

that, on a regular basis, 

UNODC analyse the reasons 

for project revisions and 

extensions in order to assess 

whether the current project-

based approach is the most 

efficient way to secure 

funding to deliver its 

outcomes and to determine 

the scope to improve project 

planning. 

With regard to approvals (of 

project revisions) at 

UNODC headquarters, most 

projects that follow the 

direct approval modality are 

processed within a week. 

Delays occur when there are 

quality control issues.  

The Board has reviewed 

evidence of the scrutiny 

surrounding the rationale 

for a project revision and 

understands that such 

revisions are business as 

usual for how UNODC 

operates. The Board has 

made further 

recommendations with 

regard to the approval 

process; this 

recommendation has 

therefore been overtaken by 

events.  

  X  

35. 2012-2013 A/69/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 58 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC review current 

reporting requirements, both 

for internal purposes and for 

donors, to determine 

The implications of Umoja 

on reporting are still under 

review. 

The Board has reviewed 

existing reports and found 

opportunities to make them 

clearer and easier to follow, 

enabling better oversight. It 

  X  

https://undocs.org/A/69/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/69/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/69/5/Add.10
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biennium Report reference Recommendations of the Board UNODC response Board’s assessment Implemented 

Under 

implementation 

Overtaken 

by events 

Not 

implemented 

          whether there is a more 

economical way to carry out 

such reporting, for example, 

by streamlining or 

rationalizing reporting 

requirements or by 

minimizing the input 

required by project staff. 

has made a recommendation 

on this matter. Therefore, 

the implementation of this 

recommendation has been 

overtaken by events. 

36. 2012-2013 A/69/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 75 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC enhance its 

framework for the 

engagement of external 

parties. 

Estimated completion date: 

December 2017.  

The Internal Audit Division 

of the Office of Internal 

Oversight Services (OIOS) 

has included a review of the 

Framework on the 

Engagement of External 

Parties in its 2017 

preliminary audit work plan 

for UNODC. The OIOS 

review is ongoing. The field 

work was conducted in late 

February/early March of 

2017. The results are to be 

discussed in an exit meeting 

scheduled for early May 

2017; thereafter, the 

reporting process will 

commence. 

The Board reviewed the 

progress made so far and 

will continue to monitor the 

upcoming developments. 

 X   

37. 2012-2013 A/69/5/Add.10, 

chap. II, para. 77 

The Board recommended 

that UNODC, in particular 

its Division for Operations, 

monitor compliance with 

the framework for the 

engagement of external 

parties and, by July 2015, 

analyse whether its 

introduction has resulted in 

any significant changes in 

the pace or scope of project 

delivery. 

As mentioned in the update 

on recommendation No. 36, 

above, the Framework on 

the Engagement of External 

Parties has been revised and 

implementation is ongoing.  

This recommendation has 

been overtaken by events 

following findings for the 

2015 audit, which led to the 

recommendation for the 

Framework on the 

Engagement of External 

Parties to be independently 

evaluated. 

  X  

https://undocs.org/A/69/5/Add.10
https://undocs.org/A/69/5/Add.10


 

 

A
/7

2
/5

/A
d

d
.1

0
 

 

4
2

/1
0

4
 

1
7

-0
9

1
7

3 

       Status after verification 
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year/ 

biennium Report reference Recommendations of the Board UNODC response Board’s assessment Implemented 

Under 

implementation 

Overtaken 

by events 

Not 

implemented 

          
38. 2010-2011 A/67/5/Add.9, 

chap. II, para. 93 

The Board recommended 

that, by September 2012, all 

new project proposals: 

(a) clearly and succinctly 

define the problem that the 

project is intended to 

address; (b) establish a clear 

baseline against which to 

assess delivery, or provide a 

clear explanation of how the 

baseline will be established; 

(c) identify and document 

the material risks and 

mitigating actions, 

including setting aside an 

element of contingency 

within project budgets, to 

address unknown risks. 

Setting up contingency 

funds is not in line with 

programme/project policies, 

except for European Union-

funded projects that have a 

separate line for 

contingency reserve.  

The Board reviewed project 

documentation and found 

that it clearly defined the 

problem that the activity 

intended to resolve and how 

the project aligns with 

UNODC strategic 

objectives, but only 5 of the 

10 projects had established 

a baseline. Further 

improvements need to be 

made with regard to risk 

management. The Board has 

made recommendations in 

2015 that supersede this 

one; therefore, this 

recommendation’s status is 

“Overtaken by events”. 

  X  

 Total 11 18 9 0 

 Percentage 29 47 24 0 
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Chapter III  
  Certification of the financial statements  

 

 

  Letter dated 31 March 2017 from the Chief of the Financial 

Resources Management Service of the United Nations Office on 

Drugs and Crime addressed to the Chair of the Board of Auditors  
 

 

 The financial statements of the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime 

(UNODC) for the year ended 31 December 2016 have been prepared in accordance 

with financial rule 106.1 of the Financial Regulations and Rules of the United 

Nations.  

 The summary of significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of 

these statements is included as notes to the financial statements. These notes and the 

accompanying schedules provide additional information on and clarification of the 

financial activities undertaken by UNODC during the period covered by these 

statements. 

 I certify that the appended financial statements of UNODC are correct on the 

basis of our records and reports from executing agencies.  

 

 

(Signed) Polinikis Sophocleous 

Chief, Financial Resources Management Service 

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime 
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Chapter IV  
  Financial report for the year ended 31 December 2016  

 

 

 A. Introduction  
 

 

1. In accordance with General Assembly resolutions 46/185 C and 61/252, the 

Executive Director of the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) is 

herewith submitting the financial report and financial statements for the year ended 

31 December 2016 for UNODC. 

2. The financial report and financial statements provide the consolidated results 

related to the acquisition and utilization of voluntary contributions and the 

administration of regular budget resources entrusted to UNODC. The voluntary 

funds include the Fund of the United Nations International Drug Control 

Programme and the United Nations Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice Fund. 

The regular budget resources for UNODC have been approved by the General 

Assembly. 

3. Information on the financial results for the Fund of the United Nations 

International Drug Control Programme and the United Nations Crime Prevention 

and Criminal Justice Fund is provided under note 3 to the financial statements, 

Segment reporting. 

 

 

 B. Operational context  
 

 

4. UNODC is mandated to work with Member States to enhance their responses 

to the interconnected problems of drug use, illicit drug trafficking, trafficking in 

human beings and firearms, transnational organized crime, corruption and terrorism. 

To achieve this, UNODC helps Member States to create and strengthen legislative, 

judicial and health systems to better safeguard their populations, especially the most 

vulnerable persons. 

5. In order to enhance the effectiveness and accountability of the Office, as well 

as to strengthen results-based management, UNODC is organized into six thematic 

subprogrammes: Countering illicit drug trafficking and transnational organized 

crime; Prevention, treatment and reintegration, and alternative development; 

Countering corruption; Terrorism prevention; Justice; and Research, trend analysis 

and forensics. The Office also has three cross-cutting subprogrammes that provide 

services to Member States: Policy support; Technical cooperation and field support; 

and Provision of secretariat services and substantive support to the governing bodies 

and the International Narcotics Control Board.  

6. The programme of work is delivered by the three substantive divisions, 

namely the Division for Operations, the Division for Policy Analysis and Public 

Affairs and the Division for Treaty Affairs. A fourth division, the Division for 

Management, is accountable for the delivery of administrative services and 

oversight. Through the Division for Operations, UNODC operates in all regions of 

the world through an extensive network of regional offices (8), country offices (7), 

programme offices (50) and liaison and partnership offices (2).  

7. Strong emphasis is placed on addressing issues that cut across 

subprogrammes, allowing for the leveraging of complementarities and synergies 

among the Office’s divisions and extensive field office network. Thematic experts 

of the Office perform both normative and operational work and facilitate the 

development and delivery of technical cooperation programmes at the global, 

regional and country levels.  

https://undocs.org/A/RES/46/185
https://undocs.org/A/RES/61/252
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8. UNODC carries out its activities in cooperation with other departments and 

offices of the Secretariat and entities of the United Nations system, in particular the 

Office of the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, the Counter -

Terrorism Implementation Task Force and the Counter-Terrorism Executive 

Directorate, the United Nations Children’s Fund, the United Nations Development 

Programme (UNDP), the United Nations Human Settlements Programme, the 

United Nations Entity for Gender Equality and the Empowerment of Women  

(UN-Women), the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), the 

International Labour Organization, the International Fund for Agricultural 

Development, the United Nations Industrial Development Organization, the World 

Health Organization and the World Bank, as well as the secretariat of the 

Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora. 

UNODC continues to promote the coherence of United Nations initiatives on the 

rule of law by participating in the Rule of Law Coordination and Resource Group 

and by providing expertise and support to UNDP and the Department of 

Peacekeeping Operations of the Secretariat in their roles as global focal points for 

the police, justice and corrections areas of the rule of law in post -conflict and other 

crisis situations. 

 

 

 C. Activity overview  
 

 

9. In 2016, the preparations for, conduct of and immediate follow-up to the 

special session of the General Assembly on the world drug problem, held from 19 to 

21 April 2016, took centre stage. Assistance was also provided for the follow-up 

action led by the Commission on Narcotic Drugs, which was based on a 

comprehensive approach covering all seven thematic areas contained in the outcome 

document of the special session, and an inclusive format involving all intere sted 

stakeholders. 

10. During 2016, the Office strengthened its efforts to generate new and 

innovative approaches to implementing the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable 

Development, in line with its mandates. UNODC also participated in discussions 

related to the Addis Ababa Action Agenda of the Third International Conference on 

Financing for Development, in particular on the subjects of countering corruption 

and illicit financial flows and on promoting and assisting in asset recovery. 

Furthermore, UNODC assisted the Commission on Narcotic Drugs and the 

Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice in submitting contributions 

to the integration segment of the Economic and Social Council and the high -level 

political forum on sustainable development. To implement the Doha Declaration on 

Integrating Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice into the Wider United Nations 

Agenda to Address Social and Economic Challenges and to Promote the Rule of 

Law at the National and International Levels, and Public Participation, UN ODC, 

with the financial support of Qatar, launched a wide-ranging global programme 

aimed at helping countries achieve a positive and sustainable impact on criminal 

justice, corruption prevention and the rule of law.  

11. The Office continued to respond to the growing demand for its services 

through a new generation of integrated programmes that are closely linked to the 

2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and by increasing efforts to ensure 

complementarity between global, regional and national efforts at  the normative and 

technical support levels. The links between the various stages of the programming 

cycle were strengthened and the senior-level programme review committee ensured 

that the results of the programme implementation were reviewed, obstacles were 

identified and corrective action was taken. The Office continued to learn from and 

build on evaluation results and to turn recommendations into action points. The 
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Office also continued to enhance the alignment between the normative and 

operational pillars of its work by focusing on results and continuing to implement 

the recommendations of oversight bodies with regard to results -based management. 

12. UNODC undertook efforts to mainstream gender into all stages of the 

development, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of its policies and 

programmes, which also supported the implementation of the 2030 Agenda for 

Sustainable Development.  

 

  Highlights by region  
 

13. In Africa and the Middle East, UNODC launched three new integrated regional 

programmes on drugs and crime for the Middle East and North Africa, East Africa 

and West Africa, and a new interregional initiative linking Latin America, the 

Caribbean and West Africa aimed at improving criminal justice and law 

enforcement action along the cocaine trafficking route. UNODC also expanded its 

comprehensive response to the United Nations integrated strategy for the Sahel.  

14. In West and Central Asia, UNODC began the implementation of the second 

phase of the regional programme for Afghanistan and neighbouring countries. The 

programme is fully incorporated into the UNODC interregional drug control 

approach and works in synergy with other UNODC regional programmes, global 

strategies and initiatives. 

15. In South Asia, East Asia and the Pacific, UNODC developed a new 

comprehensive country programme for Indonesia to help strengthen the 

Government’s capacity to deal with national drug and crime challenges. In addition, 

the Office succeeded in raising funds from existing and newly emerging donors, 

including national donors, amid changing drug, crime and development dynamics in 

the region. 

16. In Latin America and the Caribbean, UNODC has succeeded in strengthening 

strategic partnerships with key stakeholders and in promoting interregional 

cooperation, including the new initiative connecting countries in Latin America and 

the Caribbean and in West Africa in joint work on criminal justice and law 

enforcement matters. In addition, a new country programme was developed in the 

Plurinational State of Bolivia, and new programme offices were established in  

El Salvador and Barbados. 

17. In Eastern and South-Eastern Europe, UNODC has expanded its regional 

programme aimed at assisting countries in their European Union accession process.  

 

  Global programmes  
 

18. In 2016, and in accordance with the new programme related to the 

implementation of the Doha Declaration, UNODC expanded its Global Container 

Control Programme activities to more countries. Technical assistance on terrorism 

prevention has also been enhanced by reaching out to 169 countries and focusing on 

specialized areas, including foreign terrorist fighters, terrorists benefiting from 

organized crime, trafficking in cultural heritage by terrorists and children involved 

in terrorist groups. The Global Maritime Crime Programme continued to provide 

technical and legislative assistance in East Africa and West Africa and is expanding 

into new regions. UNODC also continued to focus on the Global Programme against 

Money-Laundering, Proceeds of Crime and the Financing of Terrorism.  

19. Throughout 2016, UNODC continued to provide tailored technical assistance 

regarding efforts to combat corruption through its field-based anti-corruption 

advisers. UNODC supported the implementation of the UNAIDS 2016-2021 

Strategy by promoting human rights, public health, justice and equality of access to 
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HIV services for people who use drugs and people in prisons. Activities under the 

Global Programme for Combating Wildlife and Forest Crime were expanded in 

Africa, Asia and Latin America. The Office’s global programmes against trafficking 

in persons and the smuggling of migrants also expanded significantly after 

partnering with the European Union to launch a new global initiative against 

trafficking in persons and the smuggling of migrants. Also in 2016, two new global 

programmes, on global prison challenges and violence against children, were 

launched, and attracted broad donor and recipient support. The United Nations 

Interregional Crime and Justice Research Institute also contributed to the 

programme delivery. 

 

 

 D. Budget performance highlights  
 

 

20. While the financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis in 

accordance with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS), the 

programme budget of UNODC continues to be formulated, managed and presented 

on a modified cash basis using the United Nations system accounting standards 

(UNSAS). A summary of the comparison of budget and actual amounts is shown in 

statement V.  

21. All figures quoted in the present section as income and expenditures refer to 

modified cash basis figures, comparable with budgets (UNSAS).  

22. The consolidated budget of UNODC is formulated on a biennial basis. The 

budget of general purpose funds (unearmarked contributions) is approved by the 

Commission on Narcotic Drugs and the Commission on Crime Prevention and 

Criminal Justice, while the budget for special purpose funds (earmarked 

contributions) and the budget for programme support cost funds (administrative and 

programme support cost budget) is presented to the Commissions for their 

endorsement. Together, the unearmarked and earmarked contributions and 

administrative and programme support funds constitute the Office’s extrabudgetary 

resources. The consolidated budget also includes information on the regular budget 

of UNODC, which is approved by the General Assembly.  

23. Subsequent to the approval of the consolidated budget, the Director of the 

Division for Management of UNODC authorizes the allocation of funds for the 

implementation of programmes and projects on the basis of fund availability. At  

the end of the first year of the biennium, the budget is revised to adjust to evolving 

needs. Such adjustments are approved/endorsed by the Commissions within the 

context of the implementation report on the first year of the biennium. The revised 

budget for 2016-2017 was presented to the Commissions at the end of 2016.  

24. The resource requirements of UNODC are grouped under each of the nine 

subprogrammes, and also provide components for executive direction and 

management and programme support. 

25. Figure IV.I shows the 10-year trend in annual UNSAS technical assistance 

expenditure. Figures IV.II and IV.III illustrate the distribution of the 2016 UNSAS 

expenditures by subprogramme and by region, respectively. 
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  Figure IV.I 

  United Nations system accounting standards technical assistance expenditure trends 

(excluding regular budget), 2007-2016  

  (Millions of United States dollars) 
 

 

 

26. Notwithstanding year-on-year fluctuations, UNODC has seen an upward trend 

in the delivery of technical assistance (extrabudgetary implementation) over the 

decade. The 2016 expenditure of $232.0 million is 57.6 per cent higher than the 

2007 level of $147.2 million. Compared with $241.2 million in 2015, expend iture in 

2016 represents a slight decrease of $9.2 million (3.8 per cent).  

 

  Figure IV.II  

  United Nations system accounting standards technical assistance expenditure by 

subprogramme (including regular budget), 2016 

  (Millions of United States dollars) 
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  Figure IV.III 

  United Nations system accounting standards expenditure by region (including regular 

budget), 2016 

  (Millions of United States dollars)  
 

 

 

27. Table IV.1 shows 2015 and 2016 expenditures, broken down by funding source 

in terms of special purpose funds (earmarked contributions), the related programme 

support cost funds (administrative and programme support cost budget) and general 

purpose funds (unearmarked voluntary contributions), and the regular budget.  

 

  Table IV.1 

  United Nations system accounting standards expenditure by funding source 

(including regular budget), 2015-2016 

  (Millions of United States dollars) 
 

 2015 (UNSAS)  2016 (UNSAS) 

 Amount Percentage Amount Percentage 

     
Extrabudgetary resources     

Special purpose funds  214.9 82 209.8 83 

Programme support cost funds 18.9 7 17.8 7 

General purpose funds 7.4 3 4.4 2 

 Subtotal 241.2 92 232.0 92 

Regular budget 20.9 8 19.4 8 

 Total 262.1 100 251.4 100 

 

Note: Consistent with the consolidated budget for 2016-2017, in the present financial statements, 

regular budget expenditures include sections 16 and 23. In the financial statements for 2015, 

regular budget expenditures included sections 1, 16, 23 and 29G.  
 

 

28. The 10-year evolution of the expenditure for special purpose funds, 

programme support cost funds, general purpose funds and regular budget is 

presented in figure IV.IV below. 
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Figure IV.IV  

United Nations system accounting standards evolution of expenditures (including regular budget), 2007-2016 

(Millions of United States dollars) 
 

 

 

29. Figure IV.IV highlights the continuing trend towards technical assistance 

delivery through special purpose funding (earmarked funds) rather than general 

purpose funding (unearmarked funds). In 2007, delivery through unearmarked 

funding was equivalent to 10.5 per cent of total extrabudgetary delivery; in 2015, it 

was equivalent to 3.1 per cent, while in 2016 it was further reduced to a mere 1.9 

per cent. The continuous decline, in absolute and percentage terms, of general 

purpose income negatively affects the medium-term ability of UNODC to:  

(a) implement its strategy; (b) improve upon its management processes; (c) exercise 

effective corporate oversight; and (d) launch new initiatives and programmes. While 

UNODC responded to this trend by implementing stricter financial disciplines 

through full cost recovery (see section F below), it continues to call upon donors to 

make more soft-earmarked contributions.  

30. The initial budget approved/endorsed by the Commissions in December 2015 

for 2016 amounted to $322.1 million in extrabudgetary resources. In December 

2016, the Commissions approved/endorsed a revised 2016 budget of $268.3 million, 

reflecting more realistic projections for the implementation of voluntary funded 

programmes. Compared with the UNSAS 2016 extrabudgetary expenditures of 

$232.0 million (2015: $241.2 million), this equates to a delivery of 72.0 per cent 

(2015: 82.1 per cent) on the initial budget and 86.5 per cent on the revised budget 

(2015: 77.4 per cent on the final budget).  

31. In addition to overcoming a temporary performance dip as a result of the 

implementation of Umoja in November 2015 that carried into the first half of 2016, 

UNODC made efforts to improve on its budgeting precision, planning processes and 

assessment of capacity and ramp-up needs for new projects. In addition, UNODC is 

working to improve on the gaps between the timing of donor reporting and 

contributions replenishments, and better coordinate technical assistance through 

implementing partners and end beneficiaries. UNODC envisages improved 

leveraging on the planning functionalities available through Umoja.  

 

 

 E. Financial analysis  
 

 

32. This section reflects on the results presented in the IPSAS-based financial 

statements and accompanying notes, unless otherwise stated.  
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33. As at 31 December 2016, net assets amounted to $550.4 million (statement I), 

representing an increase of $97.4 million (or 21.5 per cent) compared with  

$453.0 million as at 31 December 2015. This increase was a result of a net surplus 

in 2016 of $100.3 million (statement II) offset by a loss arising from the actuarial 

valuation of employee benefits of $3.0 million (statement III).  

34. Cash and cash equivalents and investments amounted to $509.0 million (62.2 

per cent of total assets as at 31 December 2016). The increase of $48.0 million over 

the 2015 amount of $461.0 million is primarily due to a higher collection ratio from 

non-exchange transactions than in 2015.  

35. As at 31 December 2016, voluntary contributions receivable representing 

uncollected earmarked pledges totalled $264.5 million (2015: $272.7 million), net of 

allowance for doubtful receivables of $2.7 million (2015 $10.4 million) (see note 7) .  

36. Implementing programmatic activities in partnership with other United Nations 

programmes and agencies, international and regional organizations, government 

institutions and non-governmental organizations is an important element of the 

UNODC business model. Under the UNODC framework of engagement with external 

parties, the Office transfers advances to its implementing partners and subsequently 

measures their utilization through partner reporting in a timely manner. As of the end 

of December 2016, a balance of $15.5 million (2015: $8.5 million, restated) of 

advances remained outstanding. Of this amount, $7.2 million relates to advances 

made in support of the efforts to reduce illicit crops and promote alternative 

development and a culture of legality in Colombia (see note 8). 

37. As at 31 December 2016, UNODC held property, plant and equipment in the 

amount of $13.9 million (2015: $10.5 million). During 2016, as part of its 

programmatic activities, UNODC made significant transfers of assets to end 

beneficiaries, including transfers of completed construction projects to local 

government authorities ($4.6 million). As of the end of 2016, ongoing construction 

projects amounted to $6.7 million (see notes 10 and 27).  

38. As at 31 December 2016, UNODC reported advance receipts of $5.8 million 

(2015: $5.9 million, restated). This amount represents funds received from exchange 

transactions for services that had not been delivered by year -end. 

39. UNODC liability for employee benefits amounted to $110.5 million as at  

31 December 2016 (2015: $101.9 million), of which $105.1 million (2015:  

$96.0 million, restated) represents liability under defined benefit plans (see note 14).   

40. The total revenue of $342.2 million during 2016 (2015: $275.0 million, 

restated) consists primarily of $300.9 million (2015: $238.7 million, restated) of 

non-exchange transaction (87.9 per cent of total revenue) (see note 19); and  

$30.1 million (2015: $29.0 million) of allocations from the United Nations regular 

budget (see note 18). Within “other revenue” of $7.7 million (2015: $5.1 million), 

exists $3.0 million (2015: $4.5 million) of income derived from exchange 

transactions such as services rendered on software support and training to Member 

States and other international organizations (see note 20). 

41. The total expenditures for the period amounted to $241.9 million (2015: 

$278.7 million, restated) comprising mainly staff-related costs of $101.3 million 

(2015: $95.9 million, restated), or 41.9 per cent of total expenses, and  

non-employee compensation and allowances of $40.4 million (2015: $51.3 million, 

restated), or 16.7 per cent of total expenses. In addition, $18.6 million (2015:  

$30.1 million, restated) of expenditures represents the work delivered by the 

implementing partners as well as grants to non-governmental organizations under 

authorized small-grants schemes during 2016. 
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 F. Challenges and improvements, 2016 and beyond  
 

 

  Roll-out of full cost recovery  
 

42. Despite a growth in the Office’s total voluntary contributions, including inter-

organizational arrangements, of $300.9 million in 2016 (2015: $238.7 million), the 

level of general purpose income (unearmarked contributions) reached an all -time 

low of $3.7 million, or 1.2 per cent of contributions (2015: $4.2 million, or  1.8 per 

cent). Undoubtedly, this trend continues to put a strain on the ability of UNODC to 

deliver its programmes.  

43. Figure IV.V presents 2016 income and expenditure by source of funding 

(general purpose funds, programme support cost funds and special  purpose funds). 

 

  Figure IV.V 

  United Nations system accounting standards income and expenditure, by funding source  

  (Millions of United States dollars)  

 

 
a
  Refer to note 19. 

 
b
  Refer to table IV.1. 

 

 

44. In 2014, with the aim of addressing the persistent deterioration of general 

purpose income, UNODC introduced funding arrangements rooted in full cost 

recovery, linking core and programme functions to a system of direct and indirect 

costing. In line with prevailing Secretariat-wide policies, repeated calls of the 

General Assembly and requirements to align the uses of funds with their intended 

purpose and avoid funding cross-subsidizations, UNODC set out to fairly, 

transparently, consistently and predictably cost its technical cooperation assistance.  

45. In 2016, UNODC continued to ensure a systematic and consistent application 

of full cost recovery to all programmes and projects funded from voluntary 

contributions. UNODC adapted its recovery processes to the newly introduced 

enterprise resource planning system, Umoja, and issued revised cost -accounting 

guidelines to field offices and programme managers. In addition, UNODC has been 

improving on its cost-management reporting mechanisms in order to take advantage 

of the enhanced visibility and information timeliness expected to be gradually 

gained from Umoja. The overall aim is to enable management to apply closer 

monitoring of the full cost recovery rates, analyse cross-office comparisons and 

conduct informed reviews of the financial situation and potential solutions for 

maintaining the integrity of the field office network.  

46. In 2016, through the full cost recovery initiative, UNODC continued to 

strengthen its sense of transparency and cost-consciousness and fulfilled its 

commitment to Member States to identify areas for cost-efficiencies. Gross cost-
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saving measures at headquarters and in the field totalling $3.7 million, arising from 

short- and long-term efficiencies, have been reported to the Commission on 

Narcotic Drugs and the Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice.  

47. It is highlighted that, while the complete roll-out of the initiative was planned 

in the biennium 2014-2015, the transition to full cost recovery was extended to the 

biennium 2016-2017 in order to allow additional time for the absorption of the 

financial impact among programmes. UNODC remains fully committed to this 

initiative, which will further assure its donor base that its activities are financially 

transparent and donated funds are used in accordance with donor covenants.  

 

  Enterprise risk management initiative  
 

48. The joint enterprise risk management framework, launched in August 2014 by 

the United Nations Office at Vienna and UNODC, gradually became operational in 

2015, and addresses many of the strategic and operational policy considerations of 

senior management. Completion of the framework’s roll -out to the field offices and 

the finalization of the various products was extended to the first half of 2016 owing 

to the competing priorities posed by the implementation of Umoja and a prolonged 

budget development process during the second half of 2015. The development of the 

risk registers and risk-response treatment plans of divisions and field offices was 

completed in 2016. As of the end of 2016, UNODC had moved to the ongoing 

review and updating of its key risk matrices.  

49. A second Secretariat-wide enterprise risk assessment process led by the 

Department of Management will be undertaken in 2017, and UNODC has been 

selected as one of the pilot entities involved in the assessment process. This review 

is also combined with an initial fraud risk assessment to be rolled out in 2017, 

stemming from the introduction of a comprehensive fraud and corruption 

framework by the Secretariat.  

 

  Umoja roll-out  
 

50. The implementation of Umoja, the new enterprise resource planning system, in 

November 2015 posed challenges for UNODC in both Vienna and its field offices. 

The first quarter of 2016 was particularly difficult, as programme managers and 

administrative support staff rolled out activities while facing steep learning curves 

with regard to the system’s end-to-end processes. By the second quarter of 2016, 

UNODC had been gradually overcoming those challenges, as evidenced by the 

increased throughput of transactions and the easing of requests to help desks and the 

rates of transactions that required reworking. At year-end, the Umoja roll-out at 

UNODC was well into the stabilization phase.  

51. Throughout 2016, UNODC exerted immense efforts to overcome processing 

bottlenecks, expand the user base, set up suitable data structures, tailor training to 

UNODC operations, monitor user compliance with prescribed processes, enhance 

business intelligence reporting and provide support-desk functions to Vienna and to 

field offices. In addition, UNODC took the lead in the development of donor 

reporting functionalities on behalf of the Secretariat.  

52. Deployment efforts were and continue to be directed to the next Umoja release 

(Umoja Extension 2), which is expected to bring major improvements to budget 

formulation, programme planning and management, the processing of outgoing 

grants, donor relationship management, demand and supply planning, event 

management and workforce planning. A proof of concept for budget formulation 

was under way by the end of 2016, with a pilot scheduled for 2018 and 

implementation in the biennium 2020-2021. Further Umoja enhancements were also 
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under way to address the implementation of the changes to staff remuneration and 

benefits recommended by the International Civil Service Commission. 

53. UNODC is fully aware that its good functioning depends on the timely 

stabilization of Umoja, effective engagement of UNODC programme experts in the 

development of Umoja Extension 2, continued support to end users and  field offices 

and adherence to Umoja processes, while fine-tuning the underlying workflows. 

UNODC is fully committed to this initiative, which is aiming for improved 

accountability, better management of resources and more effective and efficient 

operations. 

 

  Results-based management  
 

54. UNODC has successfully institutionalized a culture of results-based planning 

and reporting, and a robust programme planning and reporting procedure is being 

adhered to under projects and programmes. Interdivisional structures for programme 

planning and review have been strengthened during the 2016, with the creation of a 

programme review committee, which comprises senior managers from all divisions 

and allows for a strategic overview to be taken of progress made and chal lenges 

encountered in programme implementation. This has created a continuous and 

virtuous learning loop that has resulted in better evaluation results. Nevertheless, in 

order to learn from experience, UNODC will conduct an in-depth evaluation of 

results-based management in the coming year and will also present a road map to 

further strengthen its results orientation. 

55. In 2015, UNODC prepared an annual report that was followed by a funding 

appeal. This exercise is a testament to the Office’s commitment to live up to the 

highest standards of programmatic transparency and to follow a coherent approach 

to presenting results and future funding needs. The UNODC programme progress 

report for 2015 was in two parts. The first part was a series of results -based 

programme reports for each of the approved UNODC global, regional and country 

programmes. In line with the structure of the 2015 annual programme reports, they 

measured progress against targets and also covered emerging good practices, lessons 

learned and partnerships forged, as well as the human rights and gender aspects of 

the Office’s programmes. There was also an overview report on the UNODC 

programme portfolio in Latin America. The second part of the annual report served 

as an advocacy tool and focused on the human impact of the work of UNODC. It 

highlighted concrete achievements under the global, regional and country 

programmes, and focused on outcomes, rather than activity reporting. The 2016 

annual report will be presented in 2017. 
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Chapter V  
  Financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016  

 

 

  United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime 
 

  I. Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Reference 31 December 2016 

31 December 2015 

(reclassified)a 

    Assets    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents Note 5  143 896  79 479 

Investments  Note 6  246 445  229 082 

Voluntary contributions receivable  Note 7  178 068  219 963 

Other receivables  Note 7  1 856  740 

Advance transfers Note 8  15 547  8 455 

Advances to UNDP and other assets  Note 9  12 856  8 784 

 Total current assets    598 668  546 503 

Non-current assets    

Investments  Note 6  118 669  152 460 

Voluntary contributions receivable  Note 7  86 391  52 738 

Property plant and equipment Note 10  13 928  10 519 

Intangible assets Note 11  387  508 

 Total non-current assets    219 375  216 225 

 Total assets    818 043  762 728 

Current liabilities    

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Note 12  30 829 37 865 

Advance receipts  Note 13  5 822  5 872 

Employee benefits liabilities  Note 14  3 522  4 325 

Provisions Note 15  478  

Conditional liabilities  Note 16  73 664  131 447 

 Total current liabilities    114 315  179 509 

Non-current liabilities    

Employee benefits liabilities  Note 14  107 001  97 579 

Conditional liabilities  Note 16  46 375  32 635 

 Total non-current liabilities    153 376  130 214 

 Total liabilities    267 691  309 723 

 Total assets and liabilities    550 352  453 005 

Accumulated surpluses/(deficits), unrestricted Note 17  6 229  5 274 

Accumulated surpluses/(deficits), restricted Note 17  544 123  447 731 

 Total net assets    550 352  453 005 

 

 
a
  The 2015 comparatives have been reclassified to align with the United Nations -wide classification. See notes 

8, 9, 13 and 16 for further details.  

 

The accompanying notes and annexes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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  United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime 
 

  II. Statement of financial performance for the year ended 31 December 2016  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  Reference 31 December 2016 

31 December 2015 

(reclassified)a  

    
Revenue    

United Nations regular budget allocation Note 18  30 142   29 003  

Voluntary contributions Note 19  289 256   229 965  

Other transfers and allocations Note 19  11 607   8 728  

Other revenue Note 20  7 664   5 106  

Investment revenue   3 535   2 182  

 Total revenues    342 204   274 984  

Expenses    

Employee salaries, allowances and benefits Note 23  101 307   95 911  

Non-employee compensation and allowances Note 24  40 359   51 339  

Grants and other transfers Note 25  18 637   30 141  

Supplies and consumables Note 26  3 456   2 457  

Depreciation Note 10  1 109   1 141  

Amortization Note 11  121   99  

Travel   25 524   28 337  

Other operating expenses Note 27  49 440   67 591  

Other expenses Note 28  1 953   1 731  

 Total expenses    241 906   278 747  

 Surplus/(deficit) for the year    100 298   (3 763) 

 

 
a
 The 2015 comparatives have been reclassified to align with the United Nations -wide classification. See  

notes 19-28 for further details. 

 

The accompanying notes and annexes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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  United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime 
 

  III. Statement of changes in net assets for the year ended 31 December 2016  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  Reference 

Accumulated 

surpluses/(deficits), 

unrestricted 

Accumulated 

surpluses/(deficits), 

restricted Total  

     
Net assets as at 1 January 2015  (12 707)  446 433  433 726 

Change in net assets     

Transfers to/from unrestricted/restricted/reserves  (4 642)  3 530 (1 112) 

Actuarial gain/(loss)   21 131  3 023  24 154 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year   1 492 (5 255) (3 763) 

 Total as at 31 December 2015   5 274  447 731  453 005 

Net assets as at 1 January 2016 Statement I  5 274  447 731  453 005 

Change in net assets     

Transfers to/from unrestricted/restricted/reserves Note 17  483 (483) – 

Actuarial gain/(loss) Note 14 (1 470) (1 481) (2 951) 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year Statement II  1 942  98 356 100 298 

 Total as at 31 December 2016 Statement I  6 229  544 123  550 352 

 

 

The accompanying notes and annexes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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  United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime 
 

  IV. Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2016  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  Reference 

31 December 

2016 

31 December 2015 

(reclassified)a 

    
Cash flow from operating activities    

Surplus/(deficit) for the year   100 298 (3 763) 

Non-cash movements    

Depreciation and amortization Notes 10, 11  1 230  1 239 

Actuarial gain/loss on employee benefits liabilities Note 14 (2 951)  24 154 

Transfers and donated property, plant and equipment and intangibles  Note 10 205  

Net gain/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  Note 10  5 139  5 335 

Changes in assets    

(Increase)/decrease in voluntary contributions receivable Note 7  8 242  24 861 

(Increase)/decrease in other receivables Note 7 (1 116) (154) 

(Increase)/decrease in advance transfers Note 8 (7 092)  11 438 

(Increase)/decrease in other assets Note 19 (4 072)  919 

Changes in liabilities    

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable, Member State Note 12 (2 608)  3 076 

Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable, other Note 12 (4 428)  3 840 

Increase/(decrease) in advance receipts Note 13 (50)  5 872 

Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits payable Note 14  8 619 (17 161) 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions Note 15  478  

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities Note 16 (44 043) (20 132) 

Investment revenue presented as investing activities   (3 535) (2 182) 

 Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities    54 316  37 342 

Cash flows from investing activities       

Pro rata share of net increases in the cash pool Note 6  16 428 (63 889) 

Investment revenue presented as investing activities    3 535  2 182 

Acquisitions of property plant and equipment Note 10 (9 840) (4 592) 

Proceeds from disposal of property plant and equipment    (225) 

Acquisitions of intangibles   (92) 

 Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities     10 123 (66 616) 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Adjustments to net assets Statement III  (1 112) 

Other inflows/(outflows) of cash  (22)  224 

 Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities    (22) (888) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents    64 417 (30 162) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year Note 5  79 479  109 641 

 Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year    143 896  79 479 

 

 
a
  The 2015 comparatives have been reclassified to align with the United Nations -wide classification. 

 

The accompanying notes and annexes are an integral part of these financial statements.  
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  United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime 
 

  V. Statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts for the year ended  

31 December 2016  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Publicly available budgeta 

Actual 2016 

expenditure 

(budget basis) 

Differenced 

(percentage)   

Original 2016 

annualb 

Revised 2016 

annualc 

     
Revenue     

United Nations regular budget allocation 19 101 19 491 19 491  0 

Voluntary contributions and other transfers and 

allocations 295 000 271 401 299 101  10  

 Total revenue 314 101 290 891 318 592  10  

Expense     

A. Policymaking organs 910 1 110  882 (21)  

B. Executive direction and management 3 196 2 871 2 927  2  

C. Programme of work     

1. Countering illicit drug trafficking and 

transnational organized crime  103 639 87 164 76 293  (12)  

2. Prevention, treatment and reintegration, and 

alternative development 73 486 64 176 48 442  (25)  

3. Countering corruption 20 846 18 154 16 503  (9)  

4. Terrorism prevention 14 272 9 926 9 258  (7)  

5. Justice 48 003 34 678 37 392  8  

6. Research, trend analysis and forensics 33 203 30 699 27 002  (12)  

7. Policy support 7 133 6 408 5 320  (17)  

8. Technical cooperation and field support 13 549 11 369 10 067  (11)  

9. Provision of secretariat services and 

substantive support to the governing bodies and 

the International Narcotics Control Board 7 429 6 032 5 427  (10)  

D. Programme support 15 556 15 220 11 849  (22)  

 Total expenses 341 222 287 806 251 362  (13)  

 Net surplus/(deficit) (27 122) 3 085 67 229  – 

 

 
a
  Statement V budget is reported on an annual basis for reporting purposes. See note 4 for details of the 2016 -

2017 biennial budget information. 

 
b
  Original approved budget for 2016 of $341.2 million covers extrabudgetary resources of $322.1 million 

approved by the Commission on Narcotic Drugs and the Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal 

Justice (see E/CN.7/2015/17-E/CN.15/2015/20). It also includes the initial appropriation for 2016 for regular 

budget section 16 ($18.5 million) and section 23 ($0.6 million).  

 
c
  Revised budget for 2016 of $287.8 million covers extrabudgetary resources of $268.3  million approved by the 

Commission on Narcotic Drugs and the Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice (see 

E/CN.7/2016/17-E/CN.15/2016/14). It also includes the revised appropriation for 2016 for regular budget 

section 16 ($18.8 million) and section 23 ($0.7 million).  

 
d
  Actual expenditure (budget basis) less final budget, divided by final budget. Further details and material 

differences are available under note 4.  

  

https://undocs.org/E/CN.7/2015/17
https://undocs.org/E/CN.7/2016/17
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  United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime 
 

  Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

 

  Note 1 

  Reporting entity 
 

  United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, its objectives and activities  
 

1.  The United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC) was established in 

1997
1
 through a merger between the United Nations Drug Control Programme

2
 and 

the Centre for International Crime Prevention.
3
 UNODC works with Member States 

to enhance their efforts to combat the intertwined problems of drug use, trafficking, 

transnational organized crime, corruption and terrorism by helping to create and 

strengthen legislative, judicial and health systems to safeguard some of the most 

vulnerable persons in society. 

2.  The policy directions of UNODC are grounded in the international drug 

control conventions, the United Nations Convention against Transnational 

Organized Crime and the Protocols thereto, the United Nations Convention against 

Corruption, the universal legal instruments against terrorism in all its forms and 

manifestations and related mandates adopted by the General Assembly, the 

Economic and Social Council, the Commission on Narcotic Drugs and the 

Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice. For the first time, the 2030 

Agenda for Sustainable Development explicitly affirms that development requires 

peaceful and inclusive societies, justice for all and effective, accountable, and 

inclusive institutions at all levels. There exists a strongly related and mutually 

reinforcing relationship between the rule of law and development and, as such, 

neither can be realized in the absence of the other. The Office’s work flows logically 

from these mandates and is reflected in its mission, which is to contribute to the 

achievement of security and justice for all by making the world safer from drugs, 

crime and terrorism. 

3.  In order to enhance the Office’s effectiveness and accountability, as well as to 

strengthen results-based management in line with General Assembly resolution 

64/259, the programme of work for the biennium 2016-2017 has been organized 

into six thematic subprogrammes (Countering illicit drug trafficking and 

transnational organized crime; Prevention, treatment and reintegration, and 

alternative development; Countering corruption; Terrorism prevention; Justice; and 

Research trend analysis and forensics) and three subprogrammes under which the 

Office provides cross-cutting services to Member States (Policy support; Technical 

cooperation and field support; and Provision of secretariat  services and substantive 

support to the governing bodies and the International Narcotics Control Board). The 

programme of work is delivered by the three substantive divisions of UNODC, 

namely the Division for Operations, the Division for Policy Analysis and Public 

Affairs and the Division for Treaty Affairs.  

__________________ 

 
1
  See A/51/950, paras. 143-145. 

 
2
  The United Nations International Drug Control Programme was established pursuant to General 

Assembly resolution 45/179 of 21 December 1990 as the body responsible for coordinated 

international action in the field of drug abuse control. The authority for the Fund of the 

Programme was conferred on the Executive Director by the General Assembly in its resolution 

46/185 C of 20 December 1991. 

 
3
  The Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice Programme was established by the General Assembly 

in its resolution 46/152 of 18 December 1991. Since 1997, the Programme has been implemented 

by the Centre for International Crime Prevention, which was established in accordance with the 

Secretary-General’s reform programme (see A/51/950, sect. V). 

https://undocs.org/A/RES/64/259
https://undocs.org/A/51/950
https://undocs.org/A/RES/45/179
https://undocs.org/A/RES/46/185
https://undocs.org/A/RES/46/152
https://undocs.org/A/51/950
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4.  Strong emphasis is placed on addressing issues that cut across 

subprogrammes, allowing for leveraging of complementarities and synergies among 

divisions and the Office’s extensive field office network. Thematic experts of the 

Office will perform both normative and operational work and also facil itate the 

development and delivery of technical cooperation programmes at the global, 

regional and country levels. A fourth division, the Division for Management, is 

accountable for global administrative support through the provision of guidance, 

oversight and delivery of financial planning, human resources, procurement and 

conference management services. 

5.  The governing bodies of the Office are the General Assembly, the Economic 

and Social Council, the Commission on Narcotic Drugs and its subsidiary bodies 

and the Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice. UNODC also 

supports the International Narcotics Control Board, the United Nations Congress on 

Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice, the Conference of the Parties to the United 

Nations Convention against Transnational Organized Crime and the Conference of 

the States Parties to the United Nations Convention against Corruption.  

6.  Headquartered in Vienna, UNODC operates in all regions of the world through 

an extensive network of regional offices (8), country offices (7), programme offices 

(50) and liaison and partnership offices (2).  

7.  UNODC is primarily funded by voluntary contributions to the Fund of the 

United Nations Drugs Control Programme and to the United Nations Crime 

Prevention and Criminal Justice Fund. A small portion of UNODC funding comes 

from the regular budget of the United Nations approved by the General Assembly.  

8.  The Office’s financial statements fully incorporate the financial transactions 

and results of the United Nations Interregional Crime and Justice Research Institute 

based in Turin, Italy. The Institute was established in 1967 by the Economic and 

Social Council following its resolution 1086 (XXXIX), which urged an expansion 

of United Nations activities in crime prevention and criminal justice. The Institute is 

governed by a board of trustees, which includes one representative from UNODC. 

The Institute is ruled by a statute adopted by the Council in its resolution 1989/56 

and reports to the Secretary-General and the Council through the Commission on 

Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice. Strategic direction and programme support 

is provided by UNODC. 

 

  Note 2 

  Accounting policies 
 

  Basis of preparation 
 

9.  In accordance with the Financial Regulations and Rules of the United Nations, 

the financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared on an accrual basis in 

accordance with the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS).  

10.  The financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis. The 

assertion is based on the approval by the Commissions and the General Assembly of 

the budget requirements for 2016-2017 and the historical trend of collection of 

assessed and voluntary contributions over the past years. 

11.  These financial statements cover the calendar year ended 31 December 2016. 

The reporting period coincides with the calendar year.  

 



A/72/5/Add.10 

United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 

 

62/104 17-09173 

 

  Authorization for issue 
 

12.  These financial statements are certified by the Chief of the Financial 

Resources Management Service of UNODC and approved by the Executive Director 

of UNODC. 

 

  Functional and presentation currency 
 

13.  The functional currency of UNODC is the United States dollar, which is also 

the presentation currency. The statement and notes are presented in thousands of 

United States dollars unless otherwise indicated. The amounts in the statements and 

note tables are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars and in text narrative notes. 

As a result of such rounding, totals may not add up.  

14.  Foreign currency transactions are translated into United States dollars at the 

United Nations operational rate of exchange as at the date of the transaction. This 

rate approximates the spot rates prevailing as at the dates of the transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the functional 

currency are translated at the United Nations operational rate of exchange year -end 

rate. Non-monetary foreign currency items are carried at historical cost or fair va lue 

at exchange rates prevailing as at the date of the transaction or when the fair value 

was determined. Resulting exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement 

of financial performance. 

 

  Materiality and use of judgment and estimates 
 

15.  The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IPSAS requires the 

use of estimates, judgments and assumptions. Materiality is central to the UNODC 

decision-making process and guides accounting treatment related to the 

presentation, disclosure, aggregation, offsetting and timing of application of 

changes in accounting policies.  

16.  Accounting estimates and underlying assumptions include but are not limited 

to actuarial measurements, asset useful lives, impairment, inflation and discount 

rates. These are reviewed on an ongoing basis; revisions to estimates are recognized 

in the year in which the changes in estimates take place.  

 

  Cash flow convention 
 

17.  The statement of cash flow is prepared using the indirect method.  

 

  Revenue 
 

  Regular budget allocation 
 

18.  In its consolidated biennial budget, UNODC includes the regular budget 

resources that directly finance its programmatic delivery. The relevant sections of 

the regular budget of the United Nations are sections 16 and 23, which are al so 

included in statement V, on the comparison between budgeted and actual amounts. 

With the exception of statement V, the UNODC IPSAS financial statements take a 

strict UNODC entity view and only include the regular budget resources directly 

attributable to the programme delivery and support of UNODC. Consequently, the 

IPSAS financial statements account for a portion of section 29G of the regular 

budget of the United Nations, which covers the support to UNODC.  

19.  Upon approval, the total regular budget of the United Nations is assessed to 

the Member States in accordance with the scale of assessments determined by the 

General Assembly. The management and collection of the regular budget 

assessments is performed centrally by the Secretariat. As a result, UNO DC does not 
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control the individual assessment receivables and, therefore, does not recognize 

them in its financial statements. 

20.  UNODC recognizes in its financial statements the yearly allocation utilized as 

revenue in the statement of financial performance. 

 

  Voluntary contributions 
 

21.  Voluntary contributions and other transfers with probable inflow of resources 

supported by firm enforceable pledges and not subject to restrictions are recognized 

as revenue in full, irrespective of the duration of the agreement. Contributions 

subject to specific restrictions are recorded as liabilities and the revenue is 

recognized only when the conditions are met. Contributions and other transfers not 

supported by enforceable agreements are recognized as revenue only upon receipt of 

cash.  

22.  Voluntary contributions receivable balances represent uncollected revenue 

from enforceable agreements and are stated at nominal value, less specific 

impairments. An allowance for doubtful receivables is applied based on histori cal 

collection experience. 

 

  In-kind contributions 
 

23.  Outright in-kind contributions and the donated rights to use of goods over 

$5,000 are recognized as revenue to the extent that future economic benefits or 

service potential to the Office is probable and reliably measurable. Contributions in 

kind are initially measured at their fair value as at the date of receipt, determined by 

reference to observable market values or by independent appraisals. In -kind 

contributions of services are not recognized as revenue but rather disclosed in the 

notes to the financial statements to the extent that they exceed $20,000.  

 

  Exchange revenue 
 

24.  Exchange transactions are those in which the Office provides goods or 

services, such as training, software and conference management support, to 

governments, United Nations entities and other partners. Revenue is recognized at 

fair value when the goods are delivered or the services rendered. Related amounts 

billed but not collected are included within other receivables, and  amounts collected 

but not yet utilized are included within advance receipts.  

 

  Investment revenue 
 

25.  The United Nations Treasury invests funds pooled from Secretariat entities and 

other participating entities. The investment revenue includes the Office’s share of 

net cash pool revenue and other interest revenue. The net cash pool revenue 

includes any gains and losses on the sale of investments, which are calculated as the 

difference between the sale proceeds and book value. Transaction costs that are 

directly attributable to investment activities are netted against revenue. Net revenue 

is distributed proportionately to all cash pool participants on the basis of their 

average daily balances. Cash pool revenue also includes unrealized market gains 

and losses on securities. These are distributed proportionately to all participants on 

the basis of year-end balances.  

26.  The Office’s share of the United Nations investment in the cash pools is 

reported under cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and long-term 

investments depending on the maturity period. The Office’s share of the investment 

cash pool revenue, realized gains on sale of cash pool securities and realized and 

unrealized gains and losses are reported in the statement of financial perfo rmance.  
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  Expenses 
 

27.  UNODC delivers technical assistance programmes through projects in Vienna 

and its global network of field offices. Projects are executed through direct project 

delivery or through implementing partners.  

28.  In accordance with IPSAS, expenses are reported according to the delivery 

principle. Expenses are recognized on an accrual basis when goods are delivered 

and services are rendered regardless of the terms of payment.  

 

  Leases 
 

29.  UNODC enters into lease arrangements for property, plant and equipment 

where all of the risks and rewards of ownership are not substantially transferred to 

UNODC. Such arrangements are classified as operating leases. Payments made 

under operating leases are expensed over the term of the lease.  

30.  Leases of tangible assets, where UNODC has substantially all the risks and 

rewards incidental to ownership of an asset, are classified as finance leases.  

31.  Assets leased under finance leases are capitalized and included in property, 

plant and equipment, and the corresponding liability to the lessor is included under 

other liabilities. A finance lease and the corresponding liability are recognized 

initially at the lower of the fair value of the asset or present value of the minimum 

lease payments. Finance charges payable are recognized over the term of the lease 

based on the interest rate implicit in the lease so as to give a constant rate of interest 

on the remaining balance of the liability.  

 

  Donated rights to use 
 

32.  Depending on the nature of the agreement, donated-rights-to-use arrangements 

can be treated as operating or finance leases. Long-term donated-rights-to-use 

building and land arrangements where UNODC does not have exclusive control 

over the building and title to the land is not granted are accounted for as operating 

leases. The threshold for the recognition of revenue and expense for an operating 

lease is $20,000. UNODC normally estimates such donated rights by reference to 

market values for similar properties. 

 

  Assets 
 

  Classification 
 

33.  The classification of financial assets depends primarily on the purpose for 

which the financial assets are acquired. All financial assets are initially measured at 

fair value. UNODC initially recognizes financial assets classified as loans and 

receivables on the date on which they originated. All other financial assets are 

recognized initially on the trade date, which is the date on which UNODC becomes 

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  

34.  Financial assets with maturities in excess of 12 months as at the reporting date 

are categorized as non-current assets in the financial statements. Financial assets at 

fair value through surplus or deficit are those that have been designated in this 

category at initial recognition, are held for trading or are acquired principally for the 

purpose of selling in the short term. These assets are measured at fair value at each 

reporting date, and any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value are 

presented in the statement of financial performance in the year in which they arise.  
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35.  Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and are initially 

recorded at nominal value.  

36.  Financial assets are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there 

is objective evidence of impairment. Evidence of impairment includes default or 

delinquency of the counterparty or permanent reduction in the value of the asset. 

Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of financial performance in the 

year in which they arise.  

37.  Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows have 

expired or have been transferred along with all substantial risks and rewards. 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 

statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the 

recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realize the 

asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

  Investment in cash pools 
 

38.  The United Nations Treasury invests funds pooled from Secretariat entities and 

other participating entities. These pooled funds are combined in two internally 

managed cash pools. Participation in a cash pool implies sharing the risk and returns 

on investments with the other participants. Given that the funds are commingled and 

invested on a pool basis, each participant is exposed to the overall risk of the 

investment portfolio to the extent of the amount of cash invested.  

39.  The Office’s investments in the cash pools are included as part of cash and 

cash equivalents, short-term investments and long-term investments in the statement 

of financial position depending on the maturity period of the inves tment. 

 

  Cash and cash equivalents 
 

40.  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, and short -term, 

highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less from the date of 

acquisition. 

 

  Voluntary contributions receivable 
 

41.  Contributions receivable represent uncollected revenue from voluntary 

contributions committed to the UNODC by governments and other donors on the 

basis of enforceable agreements. These non-exchange receivables are stated at 

nominal value, less impairment for estimated irrecoverable amounts, the allowance 

for doubtful receivables. Voluntary contributions receivable are subject to an 

allowance for doubtful receivables on the same basis as other receivables.  

 

  Other receivables 
 

42.  Other receivables include primarily amounts receivable for goods or services 

provided to other United Nations entities, amounts receivable for leased -out assets 

and receivables from staff. Material balances of other receivables and voluntary 

contributions receivable are subject to specific review; allowance for doubtful 

receivables is assessed on the basis of recoverability and ageing accordingly.  

 

  Advances to the United Nations Development Programme and other assets  
 

43.  Advances to UNDP include those for administrative and treasury services, 

education grant advances and prepayments that are recorded as an asset until the 

goods are delivered or the services are rendered by the other party, at which point 

the expense is recognized.  
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  Heritage assets 
 

44.  Heritage assets are not recognized in the financial statements; significant 

heritage assets transactions are disclosed in the notes thereto.  

 

  Property, plant and equipment 
 

45.  Property, plant and equipment items are stated at historical cost less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment. For donated assets, the fair value as at 

the date of acquisition is utilized as a proxy for historical cost.  

46.  Assets utilized in the delivery of UNODC programmes or projects are 

categorized as project assets, whereas those used for non-project-specific activities 

are categorized as management assets. Project assets that are not controlled by 

UNODC are expensed upon purchase. 

47.  Property, plant and equipment items are fully depreciated over their estimated 

useful lives using the straight-line method. Land, assets under construction and 

project assets in transit are not subject to depreciation. The table below shows the 

estimated useful lives and capitalization thresholds for the various classes of 

property, plant and equipment. 

 

Asset class and subclass 

Capitalization threshold 

(United States dollars) Estimated useful life (years) 

   
Buildings

a
 20 000 7-50 

Communications and information 

technology equipment
a
 20 000 4-7 

Vehicles 5 000 6-12 

Furniture and fixtures 20 000 3-10 

Machinery and equipment
a
 20 000 5-20 

Self-constructed assets 100 000 – 

Leasehold improvements 100 000 Shorter of lease term or 5 years 

 

 
a
 Lower threshold of $5,000 applies to prefabricated buildings, satellite communication 

systems, generators and network equipment. 
 

 

48.  UNODC enters into construction works, such as the building of prisons and 

court houses, for the benefit of Member States. Upon completion, these assets are 

delivered to end beneficiaries. Work completion is measured on the basis of 

engineering reports submitted by the implementing partner/subcontractor and the 

Office’s own site engineering team. As these assets are not used by UNODC but 

rather delivered to end beneficiaries, no depreciation charge is recognized in the 

financial statements.  

49.  Gains or losses resulting from the disposal or transfer of assets are reported in 

the statement of financial performance under other revenue or other expenses.  

50.  Impairment reviews for property, plant and equipment are undertaken yearly or 

when events or changes in circumstances indicate that carrying amounts may not be 

recoverable. 

 

  Intangible assets 
 

51.  Intangible assets developed for use by UNODC are carried at cost less 

accumulated amortization and impairment. Capitalized costs may include acquired 

computer software licenses, direct development costs (for example, employee costs, 

consultant costs and applicable overheads) and other costs incurred to acquire and 
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bring the specific software to use. For donated intangible assets, the fair value as at 

the date of acquisition is utilized as a proxy for historical cost.  

52.  Intangible assets with definite useful lives are fully amortized using the 

straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. The table below shows the 

estimated useful lives and thresholds of major classes of intangible assets. 

 

Class 

Capitalization threshold 

(United States dollars) Estimated useful life (years) 

   
Externally acquired software 20 000 3-10 

Internally developed software 100 000 3-10 

Licenses and rights 20 000 2-6 (period of license/right) 

Assets under development 100 000 Not amortized 

 

 

53.  Impairment reviews for intangibles are undertaken yearly or when events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that carrying amounts may not be recoverable.  

 

  Advance transfers (to implementing partners) and grants 
 

54.  UNODC often implements programmatic activities through implementing 

partners, such as United Nations entities, international and regional organizations, 

government institutions and non-governmental organizations. Partner deliverables 

are agreed in joint project and programme cooperation agreements. Advance cash 

transfers are amounts provided up front to partners to deliver the agreed 

programme; these are initially recognized as assets and subsequently expensed 

based on submitted financial reports. In the absence of such financial reports, an 

informed assessment is made to accrue expenses on the basis of estimates of work 

completion after close consultation with the UNODC office responsible for 

managing the partner activities. Binding agreements to fund implementing partners 

not paid out by the end of the reporting period are shown as commitments under 

accounts payable and other accrued expenses.  

55.  UNODC operates outright grant schemes to end beneficiaries provided that 

conditions in project and donor covenants so permit. Individual grant awards are 

limited to $60,000. Outright grants are fully expensed upon disbursement, which 

normally coincides with the signing of the grant.  

 

  Liabilities 
 

  Classification 
 

56.  Financial liabilities include accounts payable, transfers payable, unspent funds 

held for future refunds and other liabilities such as balances payable to other United 

Nations entities. Financial liabilities with a duration of fewer than 12 months are 

recognized at their nominal value. The Office re-evaluates the classification of 

financial liabilities at each reporting date and derecognizes financial liabilities when 

its contractual obligations are discharged, waived, cancelled or expired.  

 

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
 

57.  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities arise from the purchase of goods and 

services that have been received but not paid for as at the reporting date. Payables 

are recognized and subsequently measured at their nominal value since they are 

generally due within 12 months. 
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  Advance receipts 
 

58.  Advance receipts consist of payments received in advance relating to exchange 

transactions. 

 

  Employee benefits liabilities 
 

59. Employees comprise staff members, as described under Article 97 of the 

Charter of the United Nations, whose employment and contractual relationship is 

defined by a letter of appointment subject to regulations promulgated by the General 

Assembly pursuant to Article 101, paragraph 1, of the Charter.  

60.  Employee benefits consist of short-term, long-term, post-employment and 

termination benefits. 

61.  UNODC recognizes liabilities and accruals for:  

 (a) Short-term employee benefits, measured at nominal value;  

 (b) Post-employment benefits and termination benefits, calculated by 

independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method. Unfunded actuarial 

gains and losses arising from changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized in the 

statement of changes in net assets;  

 (c) Other long-term employee benefits, measured at nominal value; 

 (d) The United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund. In line with the 

requirements of IPSAS 25, Employee benefits, UNODC has treated this plan as if it 

were a defined contribution plan. Accordingly, the Office’s contributions to the plan 

during the financial period are recognized as expenses in the statement of financial 

performance. Liabilities to the fund are recognized only to the extent the 

contributions payable as at the statement date have not been settled.  

 

  Short-term employee benefits 
 

62.  Short-term employee benefits (other than termination benefits) are those 

payable within 12 months after the end of the year in which the employee renders 

the related services. Short-term employee benefits comprise first-time employee 

benefits (assignment grants), regular daily/weekly/monthly benefits (wages, salaries 

and allowances), compensated absences (paid sick leave, maternity/paternity leave) 

and other short-term benefits (death grant, education grant, reimbursement of taxes 

and home leave travel). All such benefits that are accrued but not yet paid as at the 

reporting date are recognized as current liabilities within the statement of financial 

position. 

 

  Other long-term employee benefits 
 

63.  Other long-term employee benefits are those not falling due within 12 months 

and comprise home leave and annual leave. 

 

  Post-employment benefits 
 

64.  Post-employment benefits comprise payments for end-of-service benefits 

including the United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund, after-service health 

insurance, repatriation benefits and other end-of-service allowances. 

 

  Termination benefits 
 

65.  Termination benefits are recognized as an expense only when UNODC is 

demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility of withdrawal,  to a formal 
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detailed plan to either terminate the employment of a staff member before the 

normal retirement date or provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made 

in order to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits to be settled 

within 12 months are reported at the amount expected to be paid. Where termination 

benefits fall due more than 12 months after the reporting date, they are discounted if 

the impact of discounting is material.  

 

  Defined benefit plans 
 

66.  The following benefits are accounted for as defined benefit plans: after-service 

health insurance, repatriation benefits (post-employment benefits) and accumulated 

annual leave that is commuted to cash upon separation from the Office (other long -

term benefits). Defined benefit plans are those where the Office’s obligation is to 

provide agreed benefits, and therefore UNODC bears the actuarial risks. The 

liability for defined benefit plans is measured at the present value of the defined 

benefit obligation. Changes in the liability for defined benefit plans, excluding 

actuarial gains and losses, are recognized in the statement of financial performance 

in the year in which they occur. UNODC has chosen to recognize changes in the 

liability for defined benefit plans from actuarial gains and losses directly through 

the statement of changes in net assets. As at the end of the reporting year, UNODC 

held no plan assets as defined by IPSAS 25, Employee benefits.  

 

  Pension plan: United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund 
 

67.  UNODC participates in the United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund, which is 

a funded, multi-employer defined benefit plan, established by the General Assembly 

to provide retirement, death and disability benefits. The plan exposes UNODC to 

actuarial risks associated with the current and former employees of other 

participating organizations. The entities participating in the Pension Fund jointly 

determined that there is no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the assets and 

liabilities and performance (costs) among them. Therefore, as permitted by IPSAS 25, 

and consistent with Secretariat-wide policy, UNODC treats the Pension Fund as a 

defined contribution plan with the obligations for contributions to the Pension Fund 

presented as employee benefit expenses in the statement of financial performance. 

 

  Non-employee compensation 
 

68.  Non-employee compensation and allowances consist of expenses incurred with 

respect to consultant and contractors, ad hoc experts and United Nations Volunteers. 

Contracts are held directly with third parties or through other United Nations agency 

service providers. Non-employees do not earn key allowances and benefits provided 

to United Nations employees, such as assignment and education grants, pension, 

health insurance, leave and severance pay. 

 

  Provisions and contingent liabilities 
 

69.  Provisions are liabilities recognized for a future expenditure of uncertain 

amount or timing. A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Office 

has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is 

probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 

obligation. The amount of the provision is the best estimate of the expenditures 

expected to be required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date. Where 

the effect of the time value of money is material, the provision is the present value 

of the amount required to settle the obligation.  

70.  Any possible obligations that arise from past events and whose existence wi ll 

be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
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future events not wholly within the control of the Office are disclosed as contingent 

liabilities. Contingent liabilities are also disclosed where present obligations that 

arise from past events cannot be recognized because it is not probable that an 

outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be 

required to settle the obligations, or the amount of the obligations cannot be reliably 

measured. 

71.  Provisions and contingent liabilities are assessed continually to determine 

whether an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential 

has become more or less probable. If it becomes more probable that such an outflow 

will be required, a provision is recognized in the financial statements of the year in 

which the change of probability occurs. Similarly, where it becomes less probable 

that such an outflow will be required, a contingent liability is disclosed in the notes 

to the financial statements. 

 

  Commitments 
 

72.  Commitments are future expenses to be incurred by UNODC with respect to 

open contracts for which the Office has minimal, if any, discretion to avoid in the 

ordinary course of operations. Commitments include capital commitments (the 

amount of contracts for capital expenses that are not paid or accrued by the 

reporting date), contracts for the supply of goods and services that are not delivered 

as at the end of the reporting period, non-cancellable minimum lease payments and 

other non-cancellable commitments. 

 

  New accounting standards 
 

73.  On 30 January 2015, the IPSAS Board published six new standards: IPSAS 33, 

First-time adoption of accrual basis IPSASs; IPSAS 34, Separate financial 

statements; IPSAS 35, Consolidated financial statements; IPSAS 36, Investments in 

associates and joint ventures; IPSAS 37, Joint arrangements; and IPSAS 38, 

Disclosure of interests in other entities. Initial application of these standards is 

required for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017.  

74.  In July 2016, the IPSAS Board issued IPSAS 39, Employee benefits, which 

replaces IPSAS 25 on the same topic, to align it with the underlying International 

Accounting Standard 19, Employee benefits. On 31 January 2017, the IPSAS Board 

published IPSAS 40, Public sector combinations, which prescribes the accounting 

treatment for public sector combinations and sets out the classification and 

measurement of public sector combinations (i.e., transactions or other events that 

bring two or more separate operations into a single public sector entity).  

75.  Of these, IPSAS 33, 34, 35 and 37 are not expected to affect UNODC financial 

statements; whereas the impact of IPSAS 36 and IPSAS 38 on the preparation of 

financial statements for periods beginning on 1 January 2017, as well as of IPSAS 40  

for periods beginning on 1 January 2018, will be assessed on a timely basis.  

 

  Note 3 

  Segment reporting 
 

76.  A segment is a distinguishable activity or group of activities for which 

financial information is reported separately in order to evaluate an entity’s past 

performance in achieving its objective and to make decision about the future 

allocation of resources.  

77.  In segment reporting, the Office’s revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities are 

presented with reference to two major pillars of its mandate: the United Nations 

International Drugs Control Programme (drug programme) and the United Nations 
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Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice Programme (crime programme), which 

includes the United Nations Interregional Crime and Justice Research Institute. 

Activities that are not earmarked for specific programmes are reported based on the 

performance ratio of drug and crime programmes for the purpose of segment 

reporting. 
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Statement of financial position 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 

31 December 2016 31 December 2015 (reclassified)a 

Drug programme Crime programme Total  Drug programme Crime programme Total 

       
Assets       

Current assets       

Cash and cash equivalents  77 369  66 527  143 896  49 850  29 629  79 479 

Investments   124 110  122 335  246 445  117 206  111 876  229 082 

Voluntary contributions receivable   76 315  101 753  178 068  51 162  168 801  219 963 

Advance transfers and other receivables  8 752  8 651  17 403  7 055  2 140  9 195 

Advances to UNDP and other assets   9 537  3 319  12 856  3 135  5 649  8 784 

 Total current assets  296 083  302 585  598 668  228 408  318 095  546 503 

Assets       

Non-current assets       

Investments (non-current)  59 762  58 907  118 669  78 004  74 456  152 460 

Voluntary contributions receivable (non-current)  17 101  69 290  86 391  16 245  36 493  52 738 

Property, plant, equipment and intangibles  5 180  9 135  14 315  5 989  5 038  11 027 

 Total non-current assets  82 043  137 332  219 375  100 238  115 987  216 225 

 Total assets  378 126  439 917  818 043  328 646  434 082  762 728 

Liabilities       

Current liabilities       

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  13 819  17 010  30 829  17 990  19 875  37 865 

Advance receipts   1 036  4 786  5 822  1 042 4 830 5 872 

Employee benefits liabilities   1 913  1 609  3 522 2 219 2 106  4 325  

Conditional liabilities   18 779  55 363 74 142 34 915 96 532 131 447  

 Total current liabilities  35 547  78 768  114 315  56 166  123 343  179 509 
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31 December 2016 31 December 2015 (reclassified)a 

Drug programme Crime programme Total  Drug programme Crime programme Total 

       
Non-current liabilities       

Employee benefits liabilities   64 842  42 159  107 001  54 268  43 311  97 579 

Conditional liabilities   14 382  31 993  46 375  10 291  22 344  32 635 

 Total non-current liabilities  79 224  74 152  153 376  64 559  65 655  130 214 

 Total liabilities  114 771  152 920  267 691  120 725  188 998  309 723 

 Total assets and liabilities  263 355  286 997  550 352  207 921  245 084  453 005 

Net assets       

Accumulated surpluses/(deficits), unrestricted  14 887 (8 658)  6 229  16 039 (10 765)  5 274 

Accumulated surpluses/(deficits), restricted  248 468  295 655  544 123  191 882  255 849  447 731 

 Total net assets  263 355  286 997  550 352  207 921  245 084  453 005 

 

 
a
 The 2015 comparatives have been reclassified to align with the United Nations-wide classification. See notes 8, 9, 13 and 16 for further details.  
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Statement of financial performance  

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 

2016  2015 (reclassified)a 

Drug programme Crime programme Total   Drug programme Crime programme Total 

       
Segment revenue       

United Nations regular budget allocation  16 516  13 626  30 142  15 414  13 589  29 003 

Voluntary contributions  146 676  142 580  289 256  97 288  132 677  229 965 

Other transfers and allocations  4 793  6 814  11 607  4 547  4 181  8 728 

Other revenue  2 340  5 324  7 664  975  4 131  5 106 

Investment revenue  1 663  1 872  3 535  1 276  906  2 182 

 Total revenue  171 988  170 216  342 204  119 500  155 484  274 984 

Expenses       

Employee salaries, allowances and benefits  46 567  54 740  101 307  48 500  47 411  95 911 

Non-employee compensation and allowances  20 172  20 187  40 359  28 290 23 049  51 339 

Grants and other transfers  13 363  5 274  18 637  16 398  13 743 30 141 

Depreciation, amortization and impairment  725  505  1 230  760  480  1 240 

Travel  10 242  15 282  25 524  11 652  16 685  28 337 

Other operating expenses  22 148  27 292  49 440  39 845  27 746  67 591 

Other miscellaneous expenses  2 953  2 456  5 409 2 625  1 563  4 188 

 Total expenses  116 170  125 736  241 906  148 070  130 677  278 747 

 Surplus/(deficit) for the year  55 818  44 480  100 298 (28 570)  24 807 (3 763) 

 

 
a
 The 2015 comparatives have been reclassified to align with the United Nations-wide classification. 
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  Note 4 

  Comparison to budget  
 

78.  UNODC budgets are prepared on a modified cash basis, the results of which 

are presented in statement V. Explanations for material differences between the 

revised budget amounts and actual expenditure amounts on a modified cash basis 

are considered in the table below. 

79.  The original budget for the biennium 2016-2017 of $644.4 million covers 

extrabudgetary resources of $606.2 million approved by the Commission on 

Narcotics Drugs and the Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice (see 

E/CN.7/2015/17-E/CN.15/2015/20), and regular budget resources of $38.2 million 

approved by the General Assembly (resolutions 70/249 A-C) for sections 16 and 23. 

Of the $644.4 million, the original budget for 2016 of $341.2 million is included in 

this statement. 

80.  The revised budget for the biennium 2016-2017 of $606.6 million covers 

extrabudgetary resources of $567.9 million approved by the Commission on 

Narcotics Drugs and the Commission on Crime Prevention and Criminal Justice (see 

E/CN.7/2016/17-E/CN.15/2016/14), and regular budget resources of $38.7 million 

approved by the General Assembly (resolutions 71/273 A-C) for sections 16 and 23. 

Of the $606.6 million, the revised budget for 2016 of $287.8 million is included in 

this statement. 

81.  The table below provides explanations on material differences.  

 

Budget caption Material differences 

  Policymaking organs The variance of $0.2 million relates mainly to the follow-up process to the special 

session of the General Assembly on the world drug problem in 2016, which will be 

fully implemented in 2017. 

Subprogramme 1,  

Countering illicit drug 

trafficking and 

transnational organized 

crime 

The variance of $10.9 million relates mainly to delayed implementation of the 

project on the response to drugs and related organized crime in Nigeria; the Global 

Programme for Combating Wildlife and Forest Crime; the Global Container 

Control Programme; the project promoting better management of migration in 

Nigeria by combating and reducing irregular migration; the Global Programme 

against Money-Laundering, Proceeds of Crime and the Financing of Terrorism; the 

project strengthening criminal investigation and criminal justice cooperation along 

the cocaine route in Latin America, the Caribbean and West Africa; and the South -

East Asia regional subprogramme on transnational organized crime and illicit 

trafficking. 

The reasons for the delayed implementation include a compressed budget owing to 

a year-by-year extension being negotiated with donors for Nigeria; the 

postponement to 2017 of activities in the area of fisheries crime owing to the 

additional time required for completion; the temporary freeze of activities in 

certain countries in the Middle East and North Africa; time needed to recruit and 

replace personnel and commence implementation of the cocaine route and border 

control projects in Central and South-East Asia; savings owing to services in-kind 

provided by the host governments; and the general challenges of reprogramming of 

carry-forward balances. 

https://undocs.org/E/CN.7/2015/17
https://undocs.org/A/RES/70/249
https://undocs.org/E/CN.7/2016/17
https://undocs.org/A/RES/71/273
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Budget caption Material differences 

  Subprogramme 2, 

Prevention, treatment and 

reintegration, and 

alternative development 

The deviation of $15.7 million relates mainly to the lower-than-budgeted 

implementation of the projects on the reduction of illicit crops and alternative 

development in Colombia; alternative livelihoods in Afghanistan; and support to 

the drug demand reduction in the Andean Community.  

The reasons for lower implementation include a reduction in the number of coca 

growers enrolled in the public programmes, in anticipation of the peace agreement 

and new policies against illicit crops in Colombia (the enrolment is expected to 

grow with the roll-out of a new project in 2017); changes in donor practices that 

affected the execution of the second phase of the project on alternative 

development in Colombia; delays in executing contracts with implementing 

partners in Afghanistan; the rephasing of activities to 2017 due to an unexpected 

national humanitarian emergency in Ecuador; and adjustments due to changes to 

the leadership of key counterpart teams in certain countries.  

Subprogramme 5,  

Justice 

The variance of $2.7 million relates mainly to higher-than-budgeted 

implementation under the Global Maritime Crime Programme, reflecting the late 

reporting of expenditures by the implementing partner.  

Subprogramme 6, 

Research, trend analysis 

and forensics 

The deviation of $3.7 million relates mainly to the lower-than-budgeted 

implementation of the United Nations Interregional Crime and Justice Research 

Institute; the subprogramme on the trends and impacts of the regional programme 

on Afghanistan and neighbouring countries; and the integrated monitoring syste m 

of illicit crops in Colombia. 

Reasons for the lower implementation include delays in the on-boarding of 

personnel and in securing national approval for the youth drug survey under the 

subprogramme on the trends and impacts of the regional programme on 

Afghanistan and neighbouring countries; and a decrease in donor contributions to 

the crop monitoring project in Colombia.  

Subprogramme 7,  

Policy support 

The deviation of $1.1 million relates mainly to lower -than-budgeted expenditures 

related to the New York Liaison Office, lower-than-budgeted recruitment costs and 

the review and rescheduling to 2017 of activities in the area of results -based 

management. 

Subprogramme 8, 

Technical cooperation and 

field support 

The deviation of $1.3 million relates mainly to adjustments to reserves for special 

purpose costs that may need to be covered from programme support costs.  

Programme support The deviation of $3.4 million relates mainly to the lower-than-budgeted 

implementation of information technology support to intel ligence and law 

enforcement systems, as well as savings due to temporary vacancies and the 

rephasing of project improvement activities.  

 

 

82.  The table below shows the reconciliation between the actual amounts on a 

comparable basis under statement V and the Office’s cash flows under statement IV. 
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Reconciliation of actual amounts on a comparable basis to the statement of cash flows, 2016  

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Operating Investing Financing 

Total as at 

31 December 2016 

     
Actual amounts on a comparable basis (statement V) (251 362) – – (251 362) 

Basis differences 313 007 – – 313 007 

Entity differences (8 444) – – (8 444) 

Presentation differences 1 115 10 123 (22)  11 216 

Actual amounts in the statement of cash flows (statement IV)  54 316  10 123  (22) 64 417 

 

 

Reconciliation of actual amounts on a comparable basis to the statement of cash flows, 2015  

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Operating Investing Financing 

Total as at 

31 December 2015 

     
Actual amounts on a comparable basis (statement V) (280 297) – – (280 297) 

Basis differences 304 407 – – 304 407 

Entity differences 8 323 – – 8 323 

Presentation differences 4 909 (66 616) (888) (62 595) 

Actual amounts in the statement of cash flows (statement IV)  37 342 (66 616) (888) (30 162) 

 

 

83.  The 2015 reconciliation of actual amounts on a comparable basis to the 

statement of cash flow has been restated to be in line with the restatement of cash 

flow statement. 

84.  Basis differences capture the differences resulting from preparing the budget on 

a modified cash basis. In order to reconcile the budgetary results to the statement of 

cash flows, non-cash elements such as unliquidated budgetary commitments of 

$18.138 million and payment against prior year budgetary commitments  

($18.223 million) are included as basis differences. In addition, other IPSAS -specific 

differences such as the treatment of employee benefits ($1.349 million) and indirect 

cash flows relating to changes in receivables and accrued liabilities are included.  

85.  Entity differences arise when the budget includes programmes that are not part 

of the UNODC financial statements reporting and vice versa, such as the United 

Nations regular budget, which is reported under the United Nations financial 

statements (volume I). UNODC financial statements encompass a portion of the 

United Nations regular budget allocated to the administrative budget of the United 

Nations Office at Vienna in support of the Office’s programme delivery (see note 

18). 

86.  Presentation differences are the differences in the format and classification 

schemes between the statement of cash flows and the statement of comparison of 

budget and actual amounts. The latter does not include the changes in cash pool 

balances ($19.964 million). Other presentation differences include the fact that the 

amount included in the statement of comparison of budget and actual amounts are 

not segregated into operating, investing and financing activities such a s cash flows 

on property, plant and equipment, including intangibles ($9.840 million).  
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87.  Timing differences occur if the budget period differs from that of the financial 

statements. As the budget results under statement V reflect only the 2016 proporti on 

of the biennium, there are no timing differences.  

 

  Note 5 

  Cash and cash equivalents  

(Thousands of United States dollars) 

 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   
Cash at bank and on hand 121  239 

Cash pool and term deposits 143 775  79 240 

 Total cash and cash equivalents  143 896  79 479 

 

 

88.  Cash at bank and on hand represents imprest and petty cash accounts.  

89.  Cash pool and term deposits represents overnight deposits held within the 

main and euro investment pools.  

90.  The increase in cash pool and term deposits is the result of the highly liquid 

investments in 2015 having been classified as investments.  

 

  Note 6 

  Investments  

(Thousands of United States dollars) 

 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   
Current    

Main pool  246 445 227 219 

Euro pool   – 1 863 

 Subtotal, current 246 445 229 082 

Non-current   

Main pool  118 669 152 460 

 Subtotal, non-current 118 669 152 460 

 Total 365 114 381 542 

 

 

91.  Investments comprise amounts held in the United Nations cash pools and 

comprise short-term investments and long-term investments. Further investment 

details and an analysis of related exposure are provided in notes 21 and 22.  
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  Note 7 

  Outstanding voluntary contributions receivable and other receivables  
 

  Outstanding voluntary contributions receivable 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 

 31 December 2016 

31 December 2015 

(reclassified) 

   
Current voluntary contributions receivable   

Governments 53 529 108 981 

Other government organizations 116 440 113 530 

United Nations organizations 5 599 6 232 

Private donors 5 234 1 590 

 Total current voluntary contributions receivable 

before allowance 180 802 230 333 

Non-current voluntary contributions receivable   

Governments 26 303 20 401 

Other government organizations 59 645 32 007 

Private donors  443  330 

 Total non-current voluntary contributions receivable 

before allowance 86 391 52 738 

Allowance for doubtful receivables, current (2 734) (10 370) 

Total allowance for doubtful receivables (2 734) (10 370) 

Net voluntary contributions receivable, current 178 068 219 963 

Net voluntary contributions receivable, non-current 86 391 52 738 

 Total voluntary contributions receivable 264 459 272 701 

 

 

  Other receivables 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 

 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   
Current other receivables   

Governments 69  150 

Receivables from other United Nations entities  139  5 

Other exchange revenue receivables  1 648  585 

 Total other receivables, current  1 856  740 

 Total other receivables   1 856  740 
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  Movements in allowances for doubtful receivables 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 

 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   
Opening allowance for doubtful receivables  10 370  16 416 

Amounts written off
a 

(9 490) (17 095) 

Doubtful receivables adjustment for current year   1 854  11 049 

Closing allowance for doubtful receivables  2 734  10 370 

 

 
a
 Note 27 provides further detail.  

 

 

  Ageing of voluntary contributions receivable and other receivables 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 

 2016 2015 

 Gross receivable Allowance  Gross receivable Allowance 

     
Neither past due nor impaired  196 732  160 497  

Less than one year  68 534 (509) 87 565  

One to two years  2 490 (932) 19 660  (1 781) 

Two to three years  390 (390) 5 203  (692) 

More than three years  903 (903) 10 886  (7 897) 

 Total  269 049 (2 734) 283 811 (10 370) 

 

 

92. The balance of outstanding voluntary contributions receivable comprises 

pledges earmarked for specific activities.  

93.  All pledges that are outstanding are reviewed and an allowance is created for 

those that may be deemed irrecoverable. 

94.  Other receivables primarily include amounts due from employees or from the 

United Nations and other entities for goods supplied, services rendered and 

operating lease arrangements. 

95.  The 2015 allowance included an amount of $7.059 million from Libya.  

 

  Note 8 

  Advance transfers  
 

96.  Advances to UNDP in the amount of $6.568 million from 2015 have been 

reclassified to other assets (see note 9). 

97.  Advance transfers represent the funds issued to implementing partners 

responsible for delivering programmes on behalf of UNODC. Advances are issued 

based on established agreements and expensed when either the service delivery is 

confirmed through the submission of certified financial reports by the partners or, in 

the absence of reports, UNODC estimates an accrual for programme delivery after 

consultation with the responsible UNODC unit.  

98.  The balance of advance transfers as at 31 December 2016 mainly comprised 

$3.938 million with the United Nations Office for Project Services, $0.966 million 

with the United Nations Children’s Fund and $0.515 million with UNDP, and 

$7.192 million with various implementing partners to support the implementation 

and monitoring of an integrated and sustainable strategy to reduce illicit crops and 

promote alternative development and a culture of legality in Colombia.  
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  Note 9 

  Advances to the United Nations Development Programme and other assets  

(Thousands of United States dollars) 

 31 December 2016 

31 December 2015 

(reclassified) 

   
Advances to UNDP and other United Nations entities  9 711 6 568 

Advances to vendors  334  228 

Advances to staff 1 242 1 701 

Advances to other personnel 1 301  186 

Deferred charges  114  5 

Other assets 154  96 

Total other assets, current 12 856 8 784 

Total other assets 12 856 8 784 

 

 

99. Advances to UNDP in the amount of $6.568 million from 2015 have been 

reclassified from advance transfers. 

100.  Other assets include education grant advances and prepayments that are 

expensed when goods are delivered or services rendered by the other party.  

 

  Note 10 

  Property, plant and equipment  
 

101.  The movements and balances for property, plant and equipment of UNODC as 

at 31 December 2016 are provided below. 
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Movements and balances for property, plant and equipment, 2016 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Buildings 

Furniture and 

fixtures 

Communications 

and information 

technology 

equipment Vehicles 

Machinery and 

equipment 

Assets under 

construction Total 

        
Cost as at 1 January 2016  360   57   1 146   8 782   1 957   5 435  17 737 

Additions  14   25   2 274   695   611   6 018   9 637  

Disposals
a
  (4 642)  –   (6)  (439)  (144)  –   (5 231) 

Completed assets under construction  4 772   –   –   –   –   (4 772)  –  

 Cost as at 31 December 2016  504   82   3 414   9 038   2 424   6 681   22 143  

Accumulated depreciation as at 1 January 2016  251   16   691   5 798   464   –   7 220  

Depreciation  53   17   289   581   169   –   1 109  

Disposal  –   –   (1)  (88)  (3)  –   (92) 

Transfers  –   –   (88)  61   5   –   (22) 

 Accumulated depreciation as at 31 December 2016  304   33   891   6 352   635   –   8 215  

Net carrying amount        

1 January 2016  109   42   456   2 985   1 492   5 435   10 519  

 31 December 2016  200   49   2 523   2 686   1 789   6 681   13 928  

 

 
a
  Disposals include the assets transferred to end beneficiaries as part of UNODC programme delivery (see note 27).  
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Movements and balances for property, plant and equipment, 2015 

(Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Buildings 

Furniture and 

fixtures 

Communications 

and information 

technology 

equipment Vehicles 

Machinery and 

equipment 

Assets under 

construction Total 

        
Cost as at 1 January 2015 486 77 1 668  8 314 2 160 6 005 18 710 

Additions  – – 121 1 309 573 2 590 4 593 

Disposals
a
  (3 450) (20) (425)  (1 106)  (788) – (5 789) 

Completed assets under construction 3 080 – – – – (3 080) – 

Other changes 244 – (218) 265 12 (80) 223 

 Cost as at 31 December 2015 360 57 1 146 8 782 1 957 5 435 17 737 

Accumulated depreciation as at 1 January 2015 206 1 744 5 010 347 – 6 308 

Depreciation 51 15 255 697 122 – 1 140 

Disposals (6) –  (29)  (117) (15) –  (167) 

Other changes  – (1) (280) 207 11 – (63) 

 Accumulated depreciation as at 31 December 2015 251 15 690 5 797 465 – 7 218 

Net carrying amount         

1 January 2015 280 76 924 3304 1 813 6005 12 402 

 31 December 2015 109 42 456 2 985 1 492 5 435 10 519 
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102.  As at the end of 31 December 2016, UNODC holds a total of $13.928 million 

in property, plant and equipment. The increase of $3.409 million of property, plant 

and equipment holdings from the prior period is mainly attributable to the 

acquisition of project assets as well as the ongoing effort with regard to construction 

programmes for beneficiaries.  

103.  As part of its programme delivery, UNODC enters into construction works 

such as the building of prisons, police stations and court houses for the benefit of 

Member States. Once completed, these assets are handed over to the local 

governments, and the ownership of the property is then fully transferred. During 

2016, construction projects in the amount of $4.627 million were transferred to the 

beneficiaries. The ongoing construction projects amounting to $6.681 million as of 

the end of 2016 are anticipated to be completed in 2017 and beyond and then 

handed over to the beneficiaries.  

104.  Additions of $9.637 million consist of cash acquisitions of $9.840 million. A 

depreciation of $0.205 million from 2015 posted in 2016 as a restatement was 

deemed immaterial. 

105.  The accumulated depreciation transfer of $0.022 million relates to the 

accumulated depreciation of $0.205 million on the 2015 adjustment above.  

 

  Note 11 

  Intangibles  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  

Software internally 

developed Total 

   
Cost as at 31 December 2015  607  607 

 Cost as at 31 December 2016  607  607 

Accumulated amortization as at 31 December 2015  99  99 

Amortization  121  121 

 Accumulated amortization as at 31 December 2016  221  221 

Net carrying amount   

31 December 2015  508  508 

 31 December 2016  387  387 

 

 

106.  As part of UNODC programme delivery, UNODC has developed several 

software products, namely goAML, goCase and goPRS. These software products are 

used by Member States and other international organizations under service level 

agreements.  
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  Note 12 

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   
Vendor payables   4 714  7 253 

Transfers payable  3 653  10 508 

Payables to other United Nations entities  107  2 969 

Accruals for goods and services  17 503  14 764 

Other 4 852  2 371 

 Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities  30 829  37 865 

 

 

107.  Transfers payable represents the unspent balance owed to donors for  

non-exchange transactions.  

 

  Note 13 

  Advance receipts  
 

108.  Advance receipts consist of deferred income relating to unspent cash amounts 

received for exchange transactions.  

109.  In 2015, $169.690 million was reported as advance receipts, of which 

$164.082 million related to cash collected on conditional arrangement for  

non-exchange transactions, and was reported with other liabilities in 2016. In 2015, 

$0.264 million under other liabilities was reclassified to advance receipts.  

 

  Note 14 

  Employee benefits liabilities  
 

  Summary of employee benefits liabilities as at 31 December 2016 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  Current Non-current 

Total as at  

31 December 2016 

    
After-service health insurance  703  82 195  82 898 

Annual leave  445  6 961  7 406 

Repatriation benefits  936  13 852  14 788 

 Subtotal, defined benefits liabilities   2 084  103 008  105 092 

Accrued salaries and allowances  1 438  3 993  5 431 

 Total employee benefits liabilities   3 522  107 001  110 523 
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  Summary of employee benefits liabilities as at 31 December 2015 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  Current Non-current 

Total as at  

31 December 2015 

    
After-service health insurance  621  74 210  74 831 

Annual leave  598  6 281  6 879 

Repatriation benefits  1 324  12 991  14 315 

 Subtotal, defined benefits liabilities   2 543  93 482  96 025 

Accrued salaries and allowances  1 782  4 097  5 879 

 Total employee benefits liabilities   4 325  97 579  101 904 

 

 

110.  The liabilities arising from end-of-service/post-employment benefits are 

determined by independent actuaries and are established in accordance with the 

Staff Regulations and Rules of the United Nations. An actuarial valuation is usually 

undertaken every two years, with the roll-forward occurring in the second year. The 

most recent full actuarial valuation was conducted as at 31 December 2015 and was 

updated for 2016. 

111.  Post-employment benefits for end-of-service allowances for staff in the 

General Service category are calculated internally at UNODC and reported within 

accrued salaries and allowances. An amount of $4.188 million was reported for 

2016 (2015: $4.098 million). 

 

  Actuarial valuation: assumptions  
 

112.  The Organization reviews and selects assumptions and methods used by the 

actuaries in the year-end valuation to determine the expense and contribution 

requirements for employee benefits. The principal actuarial assumptions used to 

determine the employee benefits obligations as at 31 December 2016 and  

31 December 2015 are set out below. 

 

  Actuarial assumptions  

  (Percentage)  
 

Assumptions 

After-service  

health insurance Repatriation benefits Annual leave 

    
Discount rates, 31 December 2015 2.26 3.75 3.77 

Discount rates, 31 December 2016 2.14 3.62 3.64 

Inflation, 31 December 2015 4.0-6.4  2.25 – 

Inflation, 31 December 2016 4.0-6.0  2.25 – 

 

 

113.  Discount rates are based on a weighted blend of three discount rate 

assumptions based on the currency denomination of the different cash flows: United 

States dollars (Citigroup Pension Discount Curve), euros (euro area corporate yield 

curve) and Swiss francs (Federation bonds yield curve, plus the spread observed 

between government rates and high-grade corporate bonds rates). Slightly lower 

discount rates were assumed for the 31 December 2016 valuation owing to a slight 

variation in the inflation rates from 31 December 2015.  

114.  UNODC began the funding of after-service health insurance liabilities on its 

voluntary funded activity by imposing a levy of 9 per cent of the net base salary 
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with effect from December 2012. The current levy is 11 per cent of the net base 

salary.  

115.  The 2016 actuarial valuation reports a net $2.951 million actuarial loss, 

comprising a $2.650 million loss on after-service health insurance, a $0.203 million 

loss on repatriation grants and a $0.098 million loss on annual leave. The losses are 

the result of a decrease in the discount rate used as indicated in the actuarial 

assumption table above.  

 

  Movements in employee benefits liabilities accounted for as defined benefit plans  
 

  Reconciliation of opening to closing total defined benefits liability 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  2016 2015 (reclassified) 

   
Net defined benefit liability as at 1 January  96 025  114 069 

 Current service cost  6 302  5 515 

 Interest cost  2 443  2 070 

 Benefits paid (2 629) (1 475) 

 Total net costs recognized in the statement of 

financial performance  6 116  6 110 

 Actuarial (gain)/loss recognized in the statement 

of changes in net assets   2 951 (24 154) 

Net defined benefit liability as at 31 December  105 092  96 025 

 

 

116.  Accrued annual leave has been reclassified as a defined benefit liability for 

2015. 

 

  Discount rate sensitivity analysis  
 

117.  The changes in discount rates are driven by the discount curve, which is 

calculated on the basis of corporate bonds. The bonds markets varied over the 

reporting period, and volatility has an impact on the discount rate assumption. 

Should the assumption vary by 1 per cent, its impact on the  obligations would be as 

shown below. 

 

  Discount rate sensitivity analysis: year-end employee benefits liabilities 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

31 December 2016 

After-service  

health insurance Repatriation grant Annual leave 

    
Increase of discount rate by 1 per cent  (17 867) (1 441) (682) 

As a percentage of end-of-year liability  (22)  (10) (9) 

Decrease of discount rate by 1 per cent  24 827  1 631 799 

As a percentage of end-of-year liability 30 11 11 

 

 

  Medical costs sensitivity analysis  
 

118.  The principal assumption in the valuation of after-service health insurance is 

the rate at which medical costs are expected to increase in the future. The sensitivity 

analysis looks at the change in liability resulting from changes in the medical cost 

rates while holding other assumptions, such as the discount rate, constant. Should 
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the medical cost trend assumption vary by 1 per cent, this would have an impact on 

the measurement of the defined benefits obligations, as shown below. 

 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

2016 

Effects on the defined benefits 

obligations 

Effects on current service cost 

and interest cost 

   
Increase of discount rate by 1 per cent 24 297 2 534 

As a percentage of end-of-year liability 29.3  40.1 

Decrease of discount rate by 1 per cent (18 003) (1 773) 

As a percentage of end-of-year liability  (21.7)  (28.0) 

 

 

  United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund  
 

119.  The Regulations of the United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund require that 

actuarial valuations be made at least once every three years by the Consulting 

Actuary. In practice, the Pension Board has been carrying out an actuarial valuation 

every two years. The primary purpose of the actuarial valuation is to determine 

whether the current and estimated future assets of the Pension Fund will be 

sufficient to meet its liabilities.  

120. The Office’s financial obligation to the Pension Fund consists of its mand ated 

contribution, at the rate established by the General Assembly (currently at 7.9 per 

cent for participants and 15.8 per cent for member organizations) together with any 

share of any actuarial deficiency payments under article 26 of the Regulations of t he 

Pension Fund. Such deficiency payments are only payable if and when the 

Assembly has invoked the provision of article 26. Each member organization shall 

contribute to this deficiency an amount proportionate to the total contributions that 

each paid during the three years preceding the valuation date.  

121. The United Nations Board of Auditors carries out an annual audit of the 

Pension Fund and reports to the Pension Board on the audit every year. The Pension 

Fund publishes quarterly reports on its investments, which can be viewed by 

visiting the Pension Fund’s website (www.unjspf.org). 

122. The actuarial valuation performed as at 31 December 2013 revealed an 

actuarial deficit of 0.72 per cent (a deficit of 1.87 per cent in the 2011 valuation) of 

pensionable remuneration, implying that the theoretical contribution rate required to 

achieve balance as at 31 December 2013 was 24.42 per cent of pensionable 

remuneration, compared with the actual contribution rate of 23.70 per  cent. The next 

actuarial valuation will be conducted in 2017 for the reporting date 31 December 

2017. 

123. As at 31 December 2013, the funded ratio of actuarial assets to actuarial 

liabilities, assuming no future pension adjustments, was 127.5 per cent (compared 

with 130.0 per cent in the 2011 valuation). The funded ratio was 91.20 per cent 

(compared with 86.20 per cent in the 2011 valuation), when the current system of 

pension adjustments was taken into account.  

124. After assessing the actuarial sufficiency of the Pension Fund, the Consulting 

Actuary concluded that there was no requirement, as at 31 December 2011, for 

deficiency payments under article 26 of the Regulations of the Pension Fund, as the 

actuarial value of assets exceeded the actuarial value of all accrued liabilities under 

the Pension Fund. In addition, the market value of assets also exceeded the actuarial 

value of all accrued liabilities as at the valuation date. At the time of the present 

report, the General Assembly had not invoked the provision of article 26.  

http://www.unjspf.org/
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125. During 2016, the Office’s contributions to the Pension Fund amounted to 

$13.079 million (2015: $11.306 million).  

 

  Note 15 

  Provisions  
 

126. Provisions are recorded for pending claims when it is determined that an 

unfavourable outcome is probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably 

estimated. As at 31 December 2016, the Office had established provisions for 

$0.478 million for ongoing legal claims where it was assessed that the probability of 

a pay-out was greater than 50 per cent. In 2015, there were no provisions made as 

no assessed liabilities met the criteria.  

 

  Note 16 

  Conditional liabilities  
 

127. The liabilities for conditional arrangements of $164.082 million for 2015 has 

been reclassified from advance receipts, and the $0.264 million in other liabilities in 

2015 has been reclassified to advance receipts.  

128. Liabilities for conditional arrangements consist of cash collected  for  

non-exchange transactions in the amount of $32.4 million and uncollected amounts 

for non-exchange transactions of $87.6 million. A contra-receivable of $87.639 

million is reported within voluntary contributions receivable (see note 7).  

 

  Note 17 

  Net assets  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  

Accumulated 

surpluses/(deficits), 

unrestricted 

Accumulated 

surpluses/(deficits), 

restricted Total 

    
Net assets as at 1 January 2016  5 274  447 731  453 005 

Change in net assets    

Transfers to/from unrestricted/restricted/ 

reserves  483 (483) – 

Actuarial gain/(loss) (1 470) (1 481) (2 951) 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year  1 942  98 356  100 298 

 Total as at 31 December 2016  6 229  544 123  550 352 

 

 

129.  The restricted balances consist of donor contributions earmarked to specific 

activities. 

130.  The net unrestricted balance consists of unearmarked project fund balances of 

$39.633 million (2015: $36.446 million) and a negative balance of $33.404 million 

(2015: negative $31.170 million) representing the unfunded end-of-service liability 

originating from the regular budget. 
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  Note 18 

  United Nations regular budget allocation  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   
Revenue   

United Nations regular budget allocation  30 142 29 003 

Expenditure   

Direct programme activities 21 068 21 470 

Support (administrative) activities 9 074 7 533 

 Total expenditure  30 142 29 003 

 Excess of income over expenditure – – 

 

 

131.  UNODC efforts financed by the United Nations regular budget encompass 

direct programme activities, namely executive direction and management, research, 

normative work, secretariat support to the intergovernmental bodies and the 

Commissions and substantive support to the International Narcotics Control Board. 

132.  Support activities represent administrative services, including finance, human 

resources and procurement, provided by the United Nations Office at Vienna to 

UNODC under section 29 of the regular budget. Activities under this category 

represent 34.8 per cent of the total administrative budget of the United Nations Office 

at Vienna. The remainder of administrative operations of the United Nations Office at 

Vienna (65.2 per cent) supports other Secretariat entities residing in Vienna. For 

2016, the expenses consist of $20.317 million (2015: $20.206 million) under section 

16; $0.419 million (2015: $0.684 million) under section 23; $6.477 million (2015: 

$5.130 million) under section 29G; $0.332 million (2015: $0.125 million) under section 

35; and $2.597 million (2015: $2.858 million) under section 36. 

 

  Note 19 

  Revenue from non-exchange transactions  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   
Voluntary contributions   

In cash  292 056  240 330 

In kind  1 761  1 087 

 Total voluntary contributions received  293 817  241 417 

Refunds (4 561) (11 452) 

 Net voluntary contributions received  289 256  229 965 

Other transfers and allocations   

Inter-organizational arrangements  11 607  8 728 

 Total other transfers and allocations  11 607  8 728 

 

 

133. Voluntary in-kind contributions reflect primarily the donated rights to use of 

premises for UNODC field offices, which are typically provided by governments.  
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134. Other transfers and allocations consists of inter-organizational arrangements, 

which are amounts received from other United Nations entities.  

 

  Services in kind  
 

135. In-kind contributions of services received during the year are not recognized 

as revenue and are therefore not included in the above in-kind contribution revenue. 

In-kind services received in 2016, in the nature of satellite image and transport 

expenses provided to the Office, amounted to $0.545 million (2015: $0.594 million).   

 

  Note 20 

  Other revenue  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  31 December 2016 

31 December 2015 

(reclassified) 

   
Revenue from services rendered  3 034  4 458 

Rental income  206  10 

Revenue producing activities and other 

miscellaneous revenue  4 424  638 

 Total other revenue  7 664  5 106 

 

 

136.  Other revenue represents exchange revenue. 

137.  Exchange gains of $0.172 million in 2015 have been reclassified under 

operating expenses. 

138.  The exchange revenue from 2015 has been reclassified under other revenue, 

and new headings within the notes have been established for 2016. 

139.  Revenue from services rendered mainly consists of the provision of software 

support and maintenance, the training of individuals and other support services to 

the Office’s governing bodies.  

140.  Revenue-producing activities and other miscellaneous revenue include  

$4.215 million in exchange gains and $0.111 in income from prior -year savings. 

 

  Note 21 

  Financial instruments and financial risk management  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

Financial instruments 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   
Financial assets   

Fair value through the surplus or deficit   

Short-term investments, main pool  246 445  227 218 

Short-term investments, euro pool   1 863 

 Total short-term investments  246 445  229 081 

Long-term investments, main pool  118 669  152 460 

 Total long-term investments  118 669  152 460 

 Total fair value through the surplus or deficit 

investments  365 114  381 541 
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Financial instruments 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   
Loans and receivables   

Cash and cash equivalents, main pool  139 191  73 671 

Cash and cash equivalents, euro pool  4 584  5 569 

Cash and cash equivalents, other  121  239 

 Cash and cash equivalents  143 896  79 479 

Voluntary contributions  264 459  272 701 

Other receivables  1 856  740 

Other assets (excluding advances)  93  89 

 Total loans and receivables  266 408  273 530 

 Total carrying amount of financial assets  775 418  734 550 

 Of which relates to financial assets held in main pool   504 304  453 349 

 Of which relates to financial assets held in euro pool  4 584  7 432 

Financial liabilities at amortized cost   

Accounts payable and accrued payables (excluding deferred 

payables)  30 829  37 865 

Other liabilities  13  1 

 Total carrying amount of financial liabilities   30 843  37 865 

Summary of net income from financial assets   

Investment revenue  3 535  2 182 

 Total net income from financial assets  3 536  2 182 

 

 

  Financial risk management: overview  
 

141. UNODC has exposure to the following financial risks: credit, liquidity and 

market. 

142. This note presents information on the Office’s exposure to these risks; the 

objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk; and the 

management of capital. 

 

  Risk management framework  
 

143. The risk management practices of the United Nations are in accordance with 

its Financial Regulations and Rules and the United Nations Investment Management 

Guidelines (the Guidelines). The United Nations defines the capital that it manages 

as the aggregate of its net assets, which comprises accumulated fund balances and 

reserves. Its objectives are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, to 

fund its asset base and to accomplish its objectives. The United Nations manages its 

capital in the light of global economic conditions, the risk characteristics of the 

underlying assets and its current and future working capital requirements.  

 

  Credit risk  
 

144. Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a counterparty to a financial 

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk arises from cash and 

cash equivalents, investments and deposits with financial institutions, as well as 
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credit exposures to outstanding receivables. The carrying value of financial assets 

less allowances for doubtful receivables is the maximum exposure to credit risk. 

145. The investment management function is centralized at Headquarters, and other 

areas are not permitted in normal circumstances to engage in investing. An area may 

receive exceptional approval when conditions warrant investing locally under 

specified parameters that comply with the Guidelines.  

146. A large portion of the Office’s contributions receivable is due from sovereign 

governments and supranational agencies, including other United Nations entities 

that do not have significant credit risk. As at the reporting date, UNODC does not 

hold any collateral as security for receivables.  

147. UNODC evaluates the allowance of doubtful receivables at each reporting 

date. An allowance is established when there is objective evidence that UNODC 

will not collect the full amount due. Balances credited to the allowance for doubtful 

receivables account are utilized when management approve write -offs under the 

Financial Regulations and Rules or are reversed when previously impaired 

receivables are received. The movement in the allowances account during the year 

is shown in note 7. 

148.  UNODC had cash and cash equivalents of $143.9 million as at 31 December 

2016, which is the maximum credit exposure on these assets.  

 

  Liquidity risk  
 

149. Liquidity risk is the risk that UNODC might not have adequate funds to meet 

its obligations as they fall due. The approach of the Office and the United Nations to 

managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet 

its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 

incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Organization’s reputation.  

150. The Financial Regulations and Rules require that expenses be incurred after 

receipt of funds from donors, thereby considerably reducing the liquidity risk with 

regard to contributions. Exceptions to incurring expenses prior to the receipt of 

funds are only permitted if specified risk management criteria are adhered to with 

regard to the amounts receivable. 

151. UNODC and Headquarters perform cash flow forecasting and monitor rolling 

forecasts of liquidity requirements to ensure they have sufficient cash to meet 

operational needs. Investments are made by Headquarters with due consideration to 

the cash requirements for operating purposes based on cash flow forecasting. 

Headquarters maintains a large portion of UNODC-apportioned investments in cash 

equivalents and short-term investments sufficient to cover the Office’s commitments 

as and when they fall due. 

152. The exposure to liquidity risk of financial liabilities is based on the notion that 

UNODC may encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with 

financial liabilities. This is highly unlikely owing to receivables, cash and 

investments available to UNODC and internal policies and procedures put in place 

to ensure that there are appropriate resources to meet its financial obligations. As at 

the reporting date, UNODC has not pledged any collateral for any liabilities or 

contingent liabilities, and in the year no accounts payable or other liabilities were 

forgiven by third parties.  

 

  Market risk  
 

153. Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange 

rates, interest rates and prices of investment securities, will affect United Nations 
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income or the value of its financial assets and liabilities. The objective of market 

risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 

parameters while optimizing the Organization’s fiscal posit ion. 

154. Interest rate risk is the risk of variability in financial instruments’ fair values 

or future cash flows due to change in interest rates. In general, as interest rates rise, 

the price of a fixed-rate security falls, and vice versa. Interest rate risk is commonly 

measured by the fixed-rate security’s duration, with duration being a number 

expressed in years. The longer the duration, the greater the interest rate risk. The 

main exposure to interest rate risks relates to the cash pools and is considered in 

note 22.  

155. Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 

financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

UNODC has transactions, assets and liabilities in currencies other than its 

functional currency and is exposed to currency risk arising from fluctuations in 

exchange rates.  

156. The Office’s financial assets and liabilities are primarily denominated in 

United States dollars. Non-United States dollar financial assets primarily relate to 

voluntary contributions, in addition to cash and cash equivalents and receivables 

held in order to support local operating activities where transactions are made in 

local currencies. The United Nations maintains a minimum level of assets in l ocal 

currencies, and whenever possible maintains bank accounts in United States dollars. 

UNODC mitigates currency risk exposure by structuring contributions from donors 

in foreign currency to correspond to the foreign currency needs for its operational 

purposes. National law in Colombia restricts contributions collected in Colombia 

from being transferred outside the country.  

157. The most significant exposure to currency risk relates to cash-pool cash, cash 

equivalents and voluntary contributions. As at the reporting date, the non-United 

States dollar denominated balances in these financial assets were primarily euros 

and Colombian pesos. 

 

  Currency exposure as at 31 December 2016 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 

United States 

dollars  Euros 

Colombian 

pesos Others Total 

      
Short-term investments  246 445   – –  –   246 445 

Long-term investments 118 669 – – – 118 669 

Cash and cash equivalents, cash pools 139 191  4 584  –  –   143 775 

Cash and cash equivalents, other 31  –  22  68  121  

 Subtotal, cash pool 504 336  4 584  22  68  509 010 

Voluntary contributions  96 115 107 486  29 802  31 056  264 459 

Other receivables 1 687 28 132 9 1 856  

Other assets (excluding advances) – – 93 – 93  

 Total  602 138  112 098 30 049   31 133 775 418 

 

 

158.  A strengthening/weakening of the euro exchange rate as at 31 December 2016 

would have affected the measurement of investments denominated in a foreign 

currency and increased/decreased net assets and surplus or deficit by the amounts 

shown below. This analysis is based on foreign currency exchange rate variances 
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considered to be reasonably possible as at the reporting date. The analysis assumes 

that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.  

 

  Currency exposure sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2016 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Net assets/surplus or deficit 

 Strengthening Weakening 

   
Euro (10 per cent movement) 11 210 (11 210) 

Colombian peso (10 per cent movement) 3 005 (3 005) 

Other (10 per cent movement) 3 113 (3 113) 

 

 

  Market risk: other market  
 

159. UNODC is not exposed to significant other price risk, as it has limited 

exposure to price-related risk linked to expected purchases of certain commodities 

used regularly in operations. A change in those prices may alter cash flows by an 

immaterial amount. 

 

  Accounting classifications and fair value  
 

160. Owing to the short-term nature of cash and cash equivalents, including cash 

pool term deposits, receivables and payables, carrying value is a fair approximation 

of fair value. The carrying value of investments carried at fair value through surplus 

or deficit is fair value and these are predominately cash pool assets.  

 

  Note 22 

  Financial instruments: cash pools  
 

161. In addition to directly held cash and cash equivalents, UNODC participates in 

the United Nations Treasury cash pools. Pooling the funds has a positive effect on 

overall investment performance and risk because of economies of scale and the ability 

to spread yield curve exposures across a range of maturities. The allocation of cash 

pool assets (cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and long-term 

investments) and revenue is based on each participating entity’s principal balance.  

162. The Office participates in two United Nations Treasury managed cash pools:  

 (a) The main pool, which comprises operational bank account balances in a 

number of currencies and investments in United States dollars;  

 (b) The euro pool, which comprises investments in euros. The pool 

participants are mostly offices of the Secretariat away from Headquarters that may 

have a surplus of euros from their operations.  

163. As at 31 December 2016, the cash pools held total assets of $9,039.788 million 

(2015: $7,827.449 million), of which $508.888 million was due to the Office (2015: 

$460.795 million), and its share of revenue from cash pools was $3.535 million 

(2015: $2.182 million). 
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  Summary of assets and liabilities of the cash pools as at 31 December 2016 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Main pool Euro pool Total 

    
Fair value through the surplus or deficit    

Short-term investments 4 389 616  – 4 389 616  

Long-term investments 2 125 718   –  2 125 718  

 Total fair value through the surplus or 

deficit investments 6 515 334 – 6 515 334  

Loans and receivables    

Cash and cash equivalents 2 493 332  6 161  2 499 493  

Accrued investment revenue 24 961  –  24 961  

 Total loans and receivables 2 518 293 6 161  2 524 454  

 Total carrying amount of financial assets 9 033 627 6 161  9 039 788  

Cash pool liabilities    

Payable to UNODC 504 304 4 584 508 888 

Payable to other cash pool participants 8 529 323 1 577 8 530 900 

 Total liabilities 9 033 627 6 161  9 039 788  

 Net assets –   –  – 

 

 

  Summary of revenue and expenses of the cash pools for the year ended  

31 December 2016 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  Main pool Euro pool Total 

    
Investment revenue  73 903 –  73 903 

Unrealized gains/(losses) (13 474) – (13 474) 

 Investment revenue from cash pools  60 429 –  60 429 

Financial exchange gains/(losses) (5 105)  728 (4 377) 

Bank fees (646) – (646) 

 Operating expenses from cash pools (5 751)  728 (5 023) 

 Revenue and expenses from cash pools  54 678  728  55 406 

 

 

  Summary of assets and liabilities of the cash pools as at 31 December 2015 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 Main pool Euro pool Total 

    
Fair value through the surplus or deficit    

Short-term investments 3 888 712 10 941 3 899 653 

Long-term investments 2 617 626 – 2 617 626 

 Total fair value through the surplus or 

deficit investments 6 506 338 10 941 6 517 279 
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 Main pool Euro pool Total 

    
Loans and receivables    

Cash and cash equivalents 1 265 068 32 637 1 297 705 

Accrued investment revenue 12 462 3 12 465 

 Total loans and receivables 1 277 530 32 640 1 310 170 

 Total carrying amount of financial assets 7 783 868 43 581 7 827 449 

Cash pool liabilities    

Payable to UNODC 453 374 7 421 460 795 

Payable to other cash pool participants 7 330 494 36 160 7 366 654 

 Total liabilities 7 783 868 43 581 7 827 449 

 Net assets –   –  – 

 

 

  Summary of revenue and expenses of the cash pools for the year ended  

31 December 2015 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  Main pool Euro pool Total 

    
Investment revenue 51 944  48 51 992 

Unrealized gains/(losses) (10 824) (4) (10 828) 

 Investment revenue from cash pools 41 120  44 41 164 

Financial exchange gains/(losses) (11 720) (15 300) (27 020) 

Bank fees (525) – (525) 

 Operating expenses from cash pools  (12 245) (15 300) (27 545) 

 Revenue and expenses from cash pools 28 875 (15 256) 13 619 

 

 

  Financial risk management  
 

164. The United Nations Treasury is responsible for investment and risk 

management for the cash pools, including conducting investment activities in 

accordance with the Guidelines. 

165. The objective of investment management is to preserve capital and ensure 

sufficient liquidity to meet operating cash requirements while attaining a 

competitive market rate of return on each investment pool. Investment quality, 

safety and liquidity are emphasized over the market rate of return component of the 

objectives. 

166. An investment committee periodically evaluates investment performance and 

assesses compliance with the Guidelines and makes recommendations for updates 

thereto. 

 

  Financial risk management: credit risk  
 

167. The Guidelines require the ongoing monitoring of issuer and counterparty 

credit ratings. Permissible cash pool investments may include, but are not restricted 

to, bank deposits, commercial paper, supranational securities, government agency 

securities and government securities with maturities of five years or less. The cash 
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pools do not invest in derivative instruments such as asset-backed and mortgage-

backed securities or equity products. 

168. The Guidelines require that investments are not to be made in issuers whose 

credit ratings are below specifications, and also provide for maximum 

concentrations with given issuers. These requirements were met at the time the 

investments were made. 

169. The credit ratings used for the cash pools are those determined by major 

credit-rating agencies; the ratings of Standard & Poor’s (S&P), Moody’s and Fitch 

are used to rate bonds and discounted instruments, and the Fitch viability ratin g is 

used to rate bank term deposits.  

170. The United Nations Treasury actively monitors credit ratings and, given that 

the Office has invested only in securities with high credit ratings, management does 

not expect any counterparty to fail to meet its obligations, except for any impaired 

investments. 

 

  Financial risk management: liquidity risk  
 

171. The cash pools are exposed to liquidity risk associated with the requirement of 

participants to make withdrawals on short notice. They maintain sufficient cash and 

marketable securities to meet participants’ commitments as and when they fall due. 

The major portion of cash and cash equivalents and investments are available within 

a day’s notice to support operational requirements. The cash pool liquidity risk  is 

therefore considered to be low. 

 

  Financial risk management: interest rate risk  
 

172. The cash pools comprise the Office’s main exposure to interest rate risk with 

fixed-rate cash and cash equivalents and investments being interest -bearing 

financial instruments. As at the reporting date, the cash pools had invested primarily 

in securities with shorter terms to maturity, with the maximum being less than five 

years (2015: five years). The average durations of the main pool and the euro pool 

were 0.71 years (2015: 0.86 years) and 0.0 years (2015: 0.21 years) respectively, 

which are considered to be an indicator of low risk.  

 

  Cash pools interest rate risk sensitivity analysis  
 

173. The analysis shown in the table below illustrates how the fair value of the cash 

pools as at the reporting date would increase or decrease should the overall yield 

curve shift in response to changes in interest rates. Given that the investments are 

accounted for at fair value through surplus or deficit, the change in fair valu e 

represents the increase or decrease in the surplus or deficit and net assets. The 

impact of a shift up or down of up to 200 basis points in the yield curve is shown 

(100 basis points equals 1 per cent). The basis point shifts are illustrative.  

 

Cash pools interest rate risk sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2016  
 

Shift in yield curve (basis points) -200 -150 -100 -50 0  +50 +100 +150 +200 

          
Increase/(decrease) in fair value 

(Millions of United States dollars)          

Main pool total 124.35 93.26 62.17 31.08 – (31.08) (62.14) (93.21) (124.27) 

Euro pool total – – – – – – – – – 

 Total 124.35 93.26 62.17 31.08 – (31.08) (62.14) (93.21) (124.27) 
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Cash pools interest rate risk sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2015 
 

Shift in yield curve (basis points) -200 -150 -100 -50 0  +50 +100 +150 +200 

          
Increase/(decrease) in fair value 

(Millions of United States dollars)          

Main pool total 128.99 96.74 64.48 32.24 – (32.23) (64.46) (96.69) (128.91) 

Euro pool total 0.04 0.03 0.02 0.01 – (0.01) (0.02) (0.03) (0.04) 

 Total 129.03 96.77 64.50 32.25 – (32.24) (64.48) (96.72) (128.95) 

 

 

  Other market price risk  
 

174. The cash pools are not exposed to significant other price risks because they do 

not sell short, borrow securities or purchase securities on margin, which limits the 

potential loss of capital. 

 

  Accounting classifications and fair value hierarchy  
 

175. All investments are reported at fair value through surplus and deficit. Cash and 

cash equivalents carried at nominal value are deemed to be an approximation of fair 

value.  

 

  Note 23 

  Employee salaries, allowances and benefits  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   
Salary and wages  79 012  75 184 

Pension, insurance and other benefits  22 295 20 727 

 Total employee salaries, allowances and benefits 101 307 95 911 

 

 

176.  Employee salaries, allowances and benefits include salaries, post adjustments, 

entitlements, pensions, health plans and travel costs relating to home leave, 

education grant, assignment, separation and annual leave.  

177.  The increase of employee salaries and wages compared with the previous year 

is mainly attributable to the increase in the salary scale of General Service staff and 

the higher share of services rendered under the regular budget (see note 18).  

 

  Note 24 

  Non-employee compensation and allowances  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   
United Nations volunteers  678  107 

Consultants and contractors  39 672 51 189 

Non-employee other  9  43 

 Total non-employee compensation and allowances  40 359  51 339 

 

 

178. Non-employee costs refer to contracted services from individuals on the basis 

of time or delivery of defined outputs. Such contracts do not carry employment 

benefits made available to United Nations employees.  
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179. The decrease of non-employee compensation is mainly attributed to the lower 

implementation by the field offices in Afghanistan, Brazil and Colombia under the 

subprogramme 1, Countering illicit drug trafficking and transnational organized 

crime, and subprogramme 2, Prevention, treatment and reintegration, and alternative  

development.  

 

  Note 25 

  Grants and other transfers  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   
Grants to end beneficiaries, direct  4 474  11 095 

Grants to end beneficiaries, indirect –  51 

Transfers to implementing partners  14 163  18 995 

 Total  18 637 30 141 

 

 

180.  Expenses related to grants to end beneficiaries consist mainly of amounts 

given to non-governmental organizations under authorized small grant programmes.  

181.  Expenses related to transfers to implementing partners expenses are for 

programmatic delivery executed on behalf of UNODC by other organizations. The 

amount of $14.163 million represents the work delivered for the year 2016 on the 

basis of certified financial reports provided by the implementing partners. In the 

absence of certified reports, UNODC estimated the work performed with reference to 

the duration of the agreement and in consultation with the responsible programme 

managers. Related outstanding advances, namely cash transfers given to implementing 

partners for which work was yet to be delivered as at 31 December 2016, are shown as 

advance transfers in statement I. Within the total of $14.163 million programmatic 

delivery by implementing partners, $8.536 million relates to awards to farming 

cooperatives under the alternative livelihoods programmes in Colombia;  

$2.080 million relates to the activities by implementing partners to promote law 

enforcement agencies’ use of container control for any illicit trafficking of drugs, 

weapons and explosives; and $1.196 million relates to combating the illicit trafficking 

of narcotic drugs and the precursors in Central Asia. 

 

  Note 26 

  Supplies and consumables  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   
Fuel and lubricants  222  56 

Rations  43  8 

Spare parts  496  25 

Consumables  2 695  2 368 

 Total supplies and consumables 3 456 2 457 
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  Note 27 

  Other operating expenses  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  31 December 2016 

31 December 2015 

(reclassified) 

   
Contracted services   28 674  31 735 

Acquisitions of goods  7 901  5 184 

Acquisitions of intangible assets  676  100 

Rent of offices and premises 3 466  1 894  

Rental equipment  193  108 

Bad debt expense  1 857  11 049 

Net foreign exchange losses –  8 931 

Other/miscellaneous operating expenses  6 673  8 590 

 Total   49 440 67 591 

 

 

182. Acquisitions of goods comprise mainly low value items for use by the Office.  

183. Exchange losses of $9.103 million from 2015 have been reclassified from 

other expenses to other operating expenses, and exchange gains of $0.172 million 

from 2015 have been reclassified from other revenue to other operating expenses.  

184. The donated-rights-to-use amount of $1.087 million from 2015 has been 

reclassified from other operating expenses to other expenses.  

185. Bad debt expense consists of $9.491 million in write-offs of uncollected 

pledges (2015: $17.095 million) and a reduction in the allowance for doubtful debts 

of $7.634 million (2015: $6.046 million). The write-offs consist of $7.069 million 

from Libya; $1.499 million from the United States of America; $0.792 million from 

Brazil; $0.064 million from the International Organization for Migrat ion;  

$0.051 million from public donations; $0.013 million from other donors; and  

$0.003 million from the European Union. 

186. Other/miscellaneous operating expenses include $5.140 million in project 

assets delivered to beneficiaries during 2016, including completed construction 

work of $4.627 million. Project assets are assets purchased for the end beneficiary 

rather than for use by UNODC. 

187. The contracted services under other operating expenses consist of various 

services by individuals or institutions. Within the total of $28.674 million,  

$8.619 million represents various contracted services for the facilitation of meetings 

and workshops and for travel services; $4.736 million mainly relates to services in 

specialized areas such as research and analysis, surveys, studies and 

meeting/training services; and $4.114 million relates to communications and 

information technology services.  
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  Note 28 

  Other expenses  

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  31 December 2016 

31 December 2015 

(reclassified) 

   
Contributions in kind  1 760 1 087 

Ex gratia and compensation claims  145 – 

Other/miscellaneous expenses  48  644 

 Total other expenses  1 953  1 731 

 

 

188. Exchange losses of $8.931 million from 2015 have been reclassified to other 

operating expenses. 

189. The 2015 contribution in kind of $1.087 million has been reclassified from 

other operating expenses. 

 

  Note 29 

  Related parties  
 

  Key management personnel  
 

190. The key management personnel of UNODC include the Executive Director, 

the directors of the four UNODC divisions and the director of the United Nations 

Interregional Crime and Justice Research Institute, as they all have authority and 

responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Office. 

Their compensation is shown in the table below.  

 

  Compensation of key management personnel 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

 31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   
Salary and post adjustment  1 010  1 024 

Other monetary entitlements  256  58 

Non-monetary benefits  293  295 

 Total remuneration for the period 1 559  1 377 

 

 

191.  Key management personnel earn post-employment benefits at the same level 

as other employees. With the exception of pension fund benefits, other post -

retirement benefits cannot be reliably quantified.  

192.  Entitlements include mobility and hardship allowance, home leave and rental 

subsidy.  

193.  The key management personnel do not hold any other interests with UNODC.  
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  Note 30 

  Leases and commitments  
 

  Operating leases 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  31 December 2016 

31 December 2015 

(restated) 

   
Due in less than one year  392  416 

Due in one to five years 344  345 

 Total minimum operating lease obligations 736  761 

 

 

194. The operating leases consist of non-cancellable rental agreements in various 

UNODC field offices. The average remaining duration of the rental agreement is 16 

months. The 2015 amounts have been restated due to an error in the amounts reported.  

195.  The operating lease includes $1.761 million of donated-rights-to-use 

arrangements for which corresponding revenue is included in statement II and 

presented within voluntary contributions revenue (see note 19).  

 

  Contractual commitments  
 

196. The commitments for property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and 

goods and services contracted but not delivered as at the reporting date are set out in 

the table below. 

 

  Commitments for property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and goods 

and services 

  (Thousands of United States dollars) 
 

  31 December 2016 31 December 2015 

   
Property, plant and equipment  1 293 540 

Goods and services 8 443 8 414 

 Total open contractual commitments 9 736 8 954 

 

 

  Note 31 

  Contingent liabilities and contingent assets  
 

197. A contingent liability arises where there is significant uncertainty about a 

number of aspects regarding the liability. As at 31 December 2016, a possible claim 

estimated at $0.093 million related to a labour dispute in a country field office 

remained unsettled. In the process, a judgment lien against a UNODC bank account 

was instated for the same. In the light of the privileges and immunities of the United 

Nations before national courts, management does not expect a resolution with an 

adverse impact to UNODC. Assessment of this case is performed on an ongoing 

basis and any changes will be reported accordingly. 

 

  Note 32 

  Events after the reporting date  
 

198. The reporting date for these financial statements is 31 December 2016 and 

they were authorized for issuance by the Executive Director of UNODC on  

31 March 2017, on which date they were also submitted to the United Nations 

Board of Auditors. All information relevant for the preparation of the financial 
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statements was considered in the present document. There have been no material 

events between the date of the financial statements and the date when the financial 

statements were authorized for issue that would have had a material impact on these 

statements.  

 

17-09173 (E)    110817 

*1709173*  


